
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 M. Pearson  

CLERK TO THE AUTHORITY 
 

 To: The Chair and Members of the Human 
Resources Management & Development 
Committee 
 
(see below) 

SERVICE HEADQUARTERS 
THE KNOWLE 
CLYST ST GEORGE 
EXETER 
DEVON 
EX3 0NW 
 

 

 Your ref :  Date : 16 March 2017 Telephone : 01392 872200 
 Our ref : DSFRA/MP/SS Please ask for : Sam Sharman Fax : 01392 872300 

 Website : www.dsfire.gov.uk Email : ssharman@dsfire.gov.uk Direct Telephone : 01392 872393 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

(Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority) 
 

Friday 24 March 2017 
 
A meeting of the Human Resources Management & Development Committee will be held on 
the above date, commencing at 10.00 am in Conference Room B, Somerset House, 
Service Headquarters to consider the following matters. 
 
 
 M. Pearson  

Clerk to the Authority 
 

A G E N D A 
 

PLEASE REFER TO THE NOTES AT THE END OF THE AGENDA LISTING SHEETS 
 
 
1 Apologies   

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 2) 

 of the previous meeting held on 14 December 2016 attached. 
 

3 Items Requiring Urgent Attention  

 Items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the meeting as matters 
of urgency. 
 

PART 1 - OPEN COMMITTEE 
 
4 Absence Management and Health of the Organisation (Pages 3 - 10) 

 Report of the Assistant Chief Fire Officer - Service Improvement – (HRMDC/17/1) 
attached. 
 



5 Workforce Culture, Diversity and Inclusion (Pages 11 - 68) 

 Report of the Assistant Chief Fire Officer - Service Improvement – (HRMDC/17/2) 
attached. 
 

6 Strategic Workforce Planning (Pages 69 - 74) 

 Report of the Assistant Chief Fire Officer - Service Improvement – (HRMDC/17/3) 
attached. 
 

7 Retirement & Re-employment (Pages 75 - 78) 

 Report of the Assistant Chief Fire Officer - Service Improvement – (HRMDC/17/4) 
attached. 
 

8 On Call Availability Pilots (Pages 79 - 84) 

 Report of the Assistant Chief Fire Officer - Service Improvement – (HRMDC/17/5) 
attached. 
 

 

MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO SIGN THE ATTENDANCE REGISTER 
 

Membership:- 
 
Councillors Bown (Chair), Burridge-Clayton, Chugg (Vice-Chair), Hill, Julian, Knight 
and Thomas 
 



 
NOTES 

1. Access to Information 

Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or lists of background papers relating to any item on this 
agenda should contact the person listed in the “Please ask for” section at the top of this agenda.  

2. Reporting of Meetings 

Any person attending a meeting may report (film, photograph or make an audio recording) on any part of the 
meeting which is open to the public – unless there is good reason not to do so, as directed by the Chairman 
- and use any communication method, including the internet and social media (Facebook, Twitter etc.), to 
publish, post or otherwise share the report. The Authority accepts no liability for the content or accuracy of 
any such report, which should not be construed as representing the official, Authority record of the meeting.  
Similarly, any views expressed in such reports should not be interpreted as representing the views of the 
Authority. 

Flash photography is not permitted and any filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible from a single 
fixed position without the use of any additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the 
meeting and having regard also to the wishes of any member of the public present who may not wish to be 
filmed.  As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chairman or the 
Democratic Services Officer in attendance so that all those present may be made aware that is happening. 

3. Declarations of Interests (Authority Members only) 

 (a). Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

If you have any disclosable pecuniary interests (as defined by Regulations) in any item(s) to be considered 
at this meeting then, unless you have previously obtained a dispensation from the Authority’s Monitoring 
Officer, you must: 

(i). disclose any such interest at the time of commencement of consideration of the item in which you 
have the interest or, if later, as soon as it becomes apparent to you that you have such an interest; 

(ii). leave the meeting room during consideration of the item in which you have such an interest, taking 
no part in any discussion or decision thereon; and 

(iii). not seek to influence improperly any decision on the matter in which you have such an interest.  

If the interest is sensitive (as agreed with the Monitoring Officer), you need not disclose the nature of the 
interest but merely that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest of a sensitive nature.  You must still follow 
(ii) and (iii) above. 

 (b). Other (Personal) Interests  

Where you have a personal (i.e. other than a disclosable pecuniary) interest in any matter to be considered 
at this meeting then you must declare that interest no later than the commencement of the consideration of 
the matter in which you have that interest, or (if later) the time at which the interest becomes apparent to 
you.  If the interest is sensitive (as agreed with the Monitoring Officer), you need not disclose the precise 
nature of the interest but merely declare that you have a personal interest of a sensitive nature.   

If the interest is such that it might reasonably be perceived as causing a conflict with discharging your duties 
as an Authority Member then, unless you have previously obtained a dispensation from the Authority’s 
Monitoring Officer, you must not seek to improperly influence any decision on the matter and as such may 
wish to leave the meeting while it is being considered.  In any event, you must comply with any reasonable 
restrictions the Authority may place on your involvement with the matter in which you have the personal 
interest. 

4. Part 2 Reports 

Members are reminded that any Part 2 reports as circulated with the agenda for this meeting contain 
exempt information and should therefore be treated accordingly. They should not be disclosed or passed on 
to any other person(s).  Members are also reminded of the need to dispose of such reports carefully and are 
therefore invited to return them to the Committee Secretary at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal. 

5. Substitute Members (Committee Meetings only) 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with Standing Order 35, the Clerk (or his representative) must 
be advised of any substitution prior to the start of the meeting.  Members are also reminded that 
substitutions are not permitted for full Authority meetings. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
(Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority) 
 

14 December 2016  
 
Present:- 
 
Councillors Bown (Chair), Chugg (Vice-Chair), Knight, Thomas and Dyke 

 

 
 

* 
 

HRMDC/17   
 

Minutes 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2016 be signed 
as a correct record. 
 

* 
 

HRMDC/18   
 

Absence Management and the Health of the Organisation 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Service Improvement 
(HRMDC/16/14) that set out the performance in respect of absence management 
within the organisation together with an update in respect of the wider initiatives 
being undertaken that contributed to the health of the organisation. 
 
The key points noted were that sickness absence had reduced to 4.73 days per 
employee in April to September 2016 as compared with 5.09 days for the same 
period in the previous year.  Reference was made to the point that this data was, 
however, almost 3 months out of date now and a presentation was given at the 
meeting in respect of a new “app” that had been developed based on a dashboard 
approach that would provide more accurate data on sickness absence in real time.  It 
was noted that this app was linked to the existing sickness monitoring app that was 
already available as part of the new workbench.  This had been adapted to remove 
any personal data but showed the number of staff off sick on any one day, the 
number of positions absent and the reasons for the absence. 
 
The Committee welcomed the progress made with this and indicated its support and 
appreciation of the work that had been taken to introduce this app.  The question was 
raised as to when the new app would go live and it was indicated that this could be 
fairly soon after 3 January 2017 but that the position would be checked. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

(a) That the Service completes the development work for the new sickness 
absence dashboard within the Workbench, and; 

(b) Subject to (a) above, the report be received and thanks be extended to 
the officers concerned for the excellent work undertaken on the sickness 
dashboard. 

 
* 
 

HRMDC/19   
 

Retirement & Re-employment 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Service Improvement 
(HRMDC/16/15) that set out details of five applications that had been received for 
retirement and/or re-employment for approval in accordance with the Authority’s Pay 
Policy Statement for 2016/17. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 

Reference was also made to the Service’s workforce planning arrangements.  
Attention was drawn to the point that the establishment level had now dropped to well 
within the level required as a result of the Corporate Plan 2013/14 and that current 
workforce planning forecast indicated that the Service needed to give consideration 
to a recruitment campaign for new firefighters in the near future.  The Director of 
Service Improvement also referred to the work that the Service would be undertaking 
in respect of a new Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) shortly.  It was noted 
that consideration may be given within this to service delivery needs which may also 
impact upon the future workforce planning proposals.  The Director of Corporate 
Services suggested that a report could be submitted to the Committee at its next 
meeting on 24 March 2017 setting out details of the Service’s strategic workforce 
planning proposals. 
 
Councillor Knight also requested that details of the savings made as a result of the 
strategy on retirement and re-employment be included within the report to the 
Committee additionally. 
 
RESOLVED that the requests for retirement & re-employment as identified in 
paragraph 2.4 of this report be approved. 
 
 

 
*DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 11.30 am 

 

Page 2



REPORT REFERENCE NO. HRMDC/17/1 

MEETING HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE 

DATE OF MEETING 24 MARCH 2017 

SUBJECT OF REPORT ABSENCE MANAGEMENT AND THE HEALTH OF THE 
ORGANISATION 

LEAD OFFICER Assistant Chief Fire Officer 

RECOMMENDATIONS (a) That the Service continues to progress with developing a 
 working environment that is conducive to a high-
 performing, motivated and healthy workforce, and; 

(b) That as part of our performance measures for People 
 and Resources, this report be noted. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service takes seriously the 
health, safety and wellbeing of employees and as such it provides a 
wide range of initiatives, interventions and policies to ensure that 
employees enjoy a safe and supportive working environment.  
 
The Service performance for Absence Management has been 
included as a standing item on the Human Resources Management 
and Development Committee (the Committee) agenda since the 
formation of the Service. Absence levels are a key measure as they 
affect the efficiency and the effectiveness of the Service. During 
discussions at recent committee meetings, there has been a desire 
to broaden the considerations to the ‘Health of the Organisation’.  
 
The ‘Health of the Organisation’ relates to the wider health of the 
organisation as a means of monitoring people aspects which could 
be inextricably linked. In this report, as well as providing the sickness 
performance, there is further information on the Vocational Fitness 
Testing project which the Service is undertaking on a 12 month 
extended trial.  
 
This report includes Q3 results for sickness absence reporting and 
there is the sickness dashboard which is available to Members for 
real-time reporting. 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS Staffing time associated with monitoring and managing sickness as 
well as developing improvements to our recording and measuring 
systems. There is additional cost associated with the vocational 
fitness test which is being funded through an Ear-Marked Reserve.   

EQUALITY RISK AND 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 
(ERBA) 

The current Absence Management policy has had an equality impact 
assessment and a further ERBA will be required for a new Sickness 
Absence Management policy that is in development. 

APPENDICES None 

LIST OF BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

None 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service (hereinafter referred to as “the Service”) 

takes seriously the health, safety and wellbeing of employees and provides a wide range 
of initiatives, interventions and policies to ensure that employees enjoy a safe and 
supportive working environment.  However, the Service recognises that employee 
absence has a significant cost to the organisation and is therefore something that needs 
to be measured, understood and addressed. A reasonable balance needs to be struck 
between the genuine needs of employees to take occasional periods of time off work 
because of ill-health and the Service’s ability to fulfil its role in serving local communities.  

 
1.2 The Service performance for Absence Management has been included as a standing 

item on the Committee agenda since the formation of the combined Service in 2007. 
Absence levels are a key measure as they affect the efficiency and the effectiveness of 
the Service. During discussions at recent Committee meetings there has been a desire 
to broaden the considerations to the ‘Health of the Organisation’.  

 
1.3 The ‘Health of the Organisation’ relates to the wider health of the organisation as a 

means of monitoring people aspects which could be inextricably linked. The health of 
the organisation encompasses the ‘psychological’ safety of the organisation. A 
psychologically safe workplace can be defined as one that does not permit the harm to 
employees’ mental health in a careless, negligent, reckless or intentional way. There are 
critical reasons as to why employers should address the psychological safety of their 
workplace and work to minimise the risk factors. These are:  

 Ensuring that we meet our legal and moral responsibility for our staff. 

 The financial impact of enhancing psychological health in the workplace. 

 The impact of workplace factors on employee mental health. 

 
1.4 The key aspects of consideration in this report are the sickness levels but will also bi-

annually include ill-health retirements, the number of discipline and grievances cases, 
any trends in bullying and harassment, the turnover of staff, the levels of stress and 
referrals to counselling, the number of mediation cases, and the number and type of 
cases being dealt with by the Welfare Officer. These additional detailed statistics were 
previously reported in December 2016 and therefore have not been included in this 
report. Such measures also need further analysis so that we can get beneath the 
measure to understand the causes.  

 
1.5 In terms of reporting of sickness, we now have the Sickness Dashboard which reports 

on the number of staff who are off at any one time rather than the average sickness 
rates. It also distinguishes any lost time as a result of workplace injuries. The data is 
available in real-time. The next stage of this tool will be to develop further functionality 
around the provision of sickness absence data. This method of presenting the sickness 
data was developed following feedback from members and now that it is in place, it 
would be beneficial to discuss what sickness information members are seeking to be 
reported at future HRMD committees. 

 
2. 2016/17 ABSENCE PERFORMANCE 
 
2.1 Absence levels since 2008/9 are shown below in terms of average lost days per person 

per year. This shows the improvement during the last financial year and that at Q3 we 
are slightly lower than the rate for 2015/16.

Page 4



 Sickness Levels since the formation of DSFRS  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 The graph below shows the monthly sickness rates for the last 2 years. On average, 

employees have taken 6.36 days of sick leave from April to December 2016/17 
compared with 6.61 for the previous year. Since reporting in December, the levels of 
sickness have shown an increase through November and December but the overall 
trend line is still downward. 

 
 Sickness Direction of Travel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 With monthly peaks and troughs in sickness, it is difficult to see the on-going longer term 

change in the rates over this time. The bar chart below shows the 12-month rolling 
sickness rate as measured at the end of each month. As this is a rolling rate it removes 
any monthly peaks and troughs and enables us to see performance trends more clearly.  

 
2.4 There are 3 categories of sickness shown in the chart: 

 Self-certified sickness – periods of sickness up to 7 days which do not require a 
GP medical certificate 

 Short-term sickness – periods of sickness between 8 and 28 days for which a GP 
certificate is required 

 Long-term sickness – periods of over 28 days 

 
2.5 The Committee has received previous reports regarding the peak (as illustrated in the 

chart) that occurred in long-term sickness from May 2014 until August 2015.  
 
 

10.16

8.02 8.27 8.22
7.79

6.86

9.76
9.21

7.82

5.92 5.94 6.08
5.46

5.02

6.99 6.72
6.33

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Year end sickness rate

Actual 
Previous 

Year

% 

Variance

Sickness Rates 

(All Staff)
6.36 6.61 -3.7%

Sickness

April 2016 - December 2016

Average sick days taken per person, per month

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Ja
n 

15

Fe
b

 1
5

M
ar

 1
5

A
p

r 
15

M
ay

 1
5

Ju
n

 1
5

Ju
l 1

5

A
u

g 
1

5

Se
p

 1
5

O
ct

 1
5

N
o

v 
15

D
ec

 1
5

Ja
n 

16

Fe
b

 1
6

M
ar

 1
6

A
p

r 
16

M
ay

 1
6

Ju
n

 1
6

Ju
l 1

6

A
u

g 
1

6

Se
p

 1
6

O
ct

 1
6

N
o

v 
16

D
ec

 1
6

Page 5



 Average sick days taken per person, per year on a rolling 12 month basis 

 
 
2.6 We can then consider the breakdown of sickness rates between the different contract 

types as well as the length of sickness. There are 4 contract types that we consider: 
 

 Wholetime Station based staff 

 Wholetime non-Station based staff 

 Control Staff 

 Support Staff 

 
 Sickness Rates by Post Type 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00
D

e
c-

0
9

M
ar

-1
0

Ju
n

-1
0

Se
p

-1
0

D
e

c-
1

0

M
ar

-1
1

Ju
n

-1
1

Se
p

-1
1

D
e

c-
1

1

M
ar

-1
2

Ju
n

-1
2

Se
p

-1
2

D
e

c-
1

2

M
ar

-1
3

Ju
n

-1
3

Se
p

-1
3

D
e

c-
1

3

M
ar

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Se
p

-1
4

D
e

c-
1

4

M
ar

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Se
p

-1
5

D
e

c-
1

5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n

-1
6

Se
p

-1
6

D
e

c-
1

6

LT ST cert ST uncert

Actual
Previous 

Year
% Variance Actual

Previous 

Year
% Variance

Overall Sickness Rate 5.65 5.94 -4.8% 7.13 7.63 -6.5%

Total # Days/shifts lost 2146.50 2343.00 -8.4% 1328.5 1517.00 -12.4%

Sickness Rates - Long Term (over 28 calendar days) 2.87 3.55 -19.2% 5.46 5.94 -8.0%

# Days/shifts lost LT 1031.5 1376.00 -25.0% 1018 1176.00 -13.4%

Sickness Rates - ST Cert (8 - 28 calendar days) 1.04 0.76 37.5% 0.84 0.91 -7.7%

# Days/shifts lost STcert 420 322.00 30.4% 156.5 179.00 -12.6%

Sickness Rates - ST Uncert (up to 7 calendar days) 1.75 1.63 7.0% 0.83 0.78 6.3%

# Days/shifts lost STuncert 695 645.00 7.8% 154 162.00 -4.9%

Actual
Previous 

Year
% Variance Actual

Previous 

Year
% Variance

Overall Sickness Rate 8.39 8.39 0.0% 6.42 6.58 -2.3%

Total # Days/shifts lost 296.93 342.00 -13.2% 1500.76 1617.00 -7.2%

Sickness Rates - Long Term (over 28 calendar days) 3.83 4.50 -14.8% 3.10 3.88 -20.0%

# Days/shifts lost LT 134.71 183.00 -26.4% 725.4 956.00 -24.1%

Sickness Rates - ST Cert (8 - 28 calendar days) 1.03 0.81 27.4% 1.48 1.14 29.2%

# Days/shifts lost STcert 36.93 33.00 11.9% 345.11 282.00 22.4%

Sickness Rates - ST Uncert (up to 7 calendar days) 3.53 3.09 14.3% 1.84 1.55 18.7%

# Days/shifts lost STuncert 125.29 126.00 -0.6% 430.25 379.00 13.5%

Sickness Rates by post type      April 2016 - December 2016

Wholetime Station based staff
Wholetime Non Station staff

(inc SHQ, STC, group support teams etc)

Sickness Rates by post type      April 2016 - December 2016

Control Support staff

Page 6



2.7 Within Wholetime, long-term sickness has improved compared with the previous year 
but both short-term sickness and uncertified sickness have increased. 

 
2.8 Within Control long-term sickness has improved but certified short-term sickness is 

showing an increase. Control remain as the staff category with the highest levels of 
sickness.  

 
2.9 Support staff have seen an overall improvement in sickness although again short-term 

sickness has increased. 
 
2.10 Wholetime Non-station based staff has seen an overall improvement.  
 
2.11 In order to understand how a small number of staff on long-term sickness can have a big 

impact on absence levels, we can consider the number of staff that are on long-term 
sickness at any one time and this is shown below. When staff come off long-term 
sickness this can be as a result of a number of reasons including the person returning 
back to work with full fitness, returning on restricted duties, ill-health retirement or 
through leaving the Service on capability grounds. It can be seen below that the overall 
total long-term sickness tracks that of the wholetime uniformed which is the largest of 
these three categories of full-time staff. Further work will be undertaken into the analysis 
of our long-term sickness in terms of duration, reason for sickness and predicted 
likelihood of a return to work. 

 
 Numbers of staff on Long Term Sickness 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.12 The data within this report does not however, include the On-call staff which is the 

biggest proportion of our staff. As a Service we do record On-call sickness and have 
extended this into our dashboard reporting but need to determine how we will record 
sickness and this forms part of the sickness policy development. There is also the 
aspect of staff on restricted duties and who are therefore unable to carry out their normal 
duties which reduces our capacity as an organisation.  

 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

200
8

200
9

201
0

201
1

201
2

201
3

201
4

201
5

201
6

Uniformed

Control

Support Staff

Total

Page 7



3. BENCHMARKING 
 
3.1 As part of our benchmarking, we compare ourselves with other Fire & Rescue Services 

but have not had the resources available during 2016/17 to provide quarterly data to the 
national report. We will, however, be contributing to the yearend report and this will 
provide a national fire sector comparison.  

 
3.2 We also benchmark ourselves against other sectors and the wider public sector. This 

benchmark data is from the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD) 
as part of their annual survey report. The Service level of an average of 9.2 days of 
sickness is lower than the survey average public sector benchmark of 9.8. 

 

 
 

7.4
7.7

6.8
7.6

6.6
8.3

7.5

6.4
5.7

6
6

6.2
6.6

6.1

8.2
8.8

8.2
8.1

7.4
9.2

7.5

6.1
7.1

5.7
7.2

5.5
8.2

6.5

9.3
9.1

7.9
8.7

7.9
9.3

9.8

8
8.3

8.2
7.8

7.6
9.7

9.2

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

2009-10

2011-12

2013-14

2015-16

2009-10

2011-12

2013-14

2015-16

2009-10

2011-12

2013-14

2015-16

2009-10

2011-12

2013-14

2015-16

2009-10

2011-12

2013-14

2015-16

2009-10

2011-12

2013-14

2015-16

Average number of days lost per employee

Page 8



4. VOCATIONAL FITNESS TESTING 
 
4.1 In previous reports the Vocational Fitness has been referred to but there has been 

significant progress since the last HRMD report. Uniformed staff have previously 
undertake an aerobic fitness test as part of their 3 yearly medical. Firefighter fitness is 
important to us since we need to maintain operational personnel who are in good 
physical condition and who can remain fit and undertake operational activity in a safe 
and effective manner. Previously, our tests that we use only measured aerobic capacity 
and did not provide a balanced assessment of power and muscle endurance. These 
existing tests are also surrogate tests and do not adequately measure a firefighter 
performing the actual duties of the role. Also, with an ageing workforce and with an 
increased normal pension age of 60, we need to adequately support firefighters to 
maintain their fitness and thereby avoid or reduce increased sickness, ill-heath 
retirements, injuries and the potential for authority initiated early retirements.  

 
4.2 A full business case has been approved by the Executive Board to introduce a 

Vocational Drill Ground test to assess operational fitness and an extended 12 month trial 
will be undertaken in 2017/18 for operational staff from Firefighter to Watch Manager. 
The test is undertaken on the drill ground and includes work specific tasks that a 
Firefighter could expect to undertake at an incident including using the hose reel, 
carrying and running out hoses, carrying equipment and undertaking a casualty 
evacuation. The Service has previously undertaking limited trials for the vocational 
fitness test and it has been well received as an alternate to other testing methods 
including the treadmill gas analyser test which is currently in place. At the Firefit 
conference in October 2016 the recommended pass time was released following 
national research through the University of Bath. In terms of implementing the vocational 
fitness test, there is the detailed considerations of the logistics of undertaking the tests 
as near to the on-call Firefighters’ stations as possible in order to reduce travel time and 
the staffing, equipment and transport that will be required to achieve this.  

 
4.3 The trial will be on a ‘no pass, no fail’ basis and during this period data will be gathered 

and analysed to monitor any impacts of the testing on gender, age and ethnicity. The 
Service will also continue the work we are undertaking into a Female Study Group, so 
that we can further establish whether there is any a potential impact on workforce 
diversity as a result of this method of testing. During the 12 month trial period, the test 
will be rolled out, practiced and monitored as well as further initiatives to improve overall 
firefighter fitness. The project will include the following: 

 That the vocational drill ground assessment is trialled on a 12 month basis for 
operational staff from Firefighter to Watch Manager. 

 That during the 12 months, we review our progress at 6 and 12 months and from 
these reviews determine our future long term approach to fitness testing. 

 That the practise and testing will be held locally to On-call Stations and at the 
Wholetime Stations. 

 That Wholetime staff will undertake testing as part of their normal shift and staff 
with multiple contracts will be tested on their Wholetime shift. 

 It has now been established that a more role related assessment is used to 
assess work specific tasks and offer a more legally defensible fitness assessment, 
based on the job role That On-call staff will be tested by Group Fitness Advocates 
with 4 per group and Wholetime staff will initially be tested by the Fitness Advisors;

Page 9



 That the Service will provide a van for each Group to transport the testing 
equipment and this will include a fitted hose reel. These vans will for the duration 
of the trial 12 month trial be the existing co-responding vehicles as they come to 
the end of their lease period. 

 That the strategy of providing fitness equipment at stations is continued with the 
current level of budgetary funding. 

 That a gym is added to the blueprint for any On-call Station new builds. 

 That activities associated with a fitness culture are undertaken including increased 
use of standard drills as part of training and also for promotional purposes. 

 That Officers will have the option to undertake the vocational drill ground test or 
alternatively use the existing officer treadmill test. 

 That we continue with a temporary additional Fitness Advisor to provide tailored, 
personal trainer support to those staff not currently meeting the fitness standard 
standards. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 This report provides a wider perspective of the Health of the Organisation as well as the 

Absence performance management data and this report outlines the arrangements for 
an extended trial for a Vocational Fitness Test. 

 
5.2 Overall, we have seen an improvement in the sickness absence levels for 2016/17 

compared with the Q3 results for the previous two years but November and December 
2016 were at an increased level from the previous year. 

  
 GLENN ASKEW 
 Assistant Chief Fire Officer – Service Improvement 

Page 10



 

 

REPORT REFERENCE 
NO. 

HRMDC/17/2 

MEETING HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT 

DATE OF MEETING 24 MARCH 2017 

SUBJECT OF REPORT WORKFORCE CULTURE, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 

LEAD OFFICER Assistant Chief Fire Officer - Service Improvement 

RECOMMENDATIONS That the report be noted. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY There are significantly increased political expectations for the Fire & 
Rescue Service nationally regarding workforce reform, increasing 
diversity of employees and improved culture and inclusion. The Service 
has already made progress in these areas over the past few years and 
has a number of plans already in place. The future approach will be 
driven by the new Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) and a new 
people strategy and equality, diversity and inclusion strategy. These will 
enable the Service to achieve the cultural changes needed to support 
current and future challenges and to make us a more inclusive, diverse 
and effective public service that reflects our communities. 

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS 

No additional resource implications. 

EQUALITY RISKS AND 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 
(ERBA) 

There is no requirement to carry out an ERBA on this report. 

APPENDICES A. Local Government Association report March 2017 - An Inclusive 

Service; the 21st century fire and rescue service. 

LIST OF BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

The following speeches: 

Theresa May’s speech, as Home Secretary, to Reform in May 2016. 
Minister for Policing & Fire, Brandon Lewis’s, speeches to: 

 CFOA conference in September 2016 

 Asian Fire Service Association conference in November 2016 

 Reform in February 2017. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1  This report sets the equalities work already achieved within the context of the national 

drivers for change concerning workforce culture, diversity and inclusive working 
practices. Achieving a more diverse workforce and inclusive workplace will bring benefits 
for communities, employees and the organisation in terms of improved services, 
attracting talent, innovation and internal and external collaboration. 

 
1.2  The report references a recent Local Government Association report on Fire Service 

Inclusion and sets out the next steps for how the Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue 
Service (hereinafter referred to as “the Service”) will plan and deliver this cultural 
change, including a new people strategy and equality, diversity and inclusion strategy, 
shaped by the national drivers for cultural change and the requirements of the new 
Integrated Risk Management Plan. 

 
2.  GOVERNMENT DRIVERS FOR CHANGE 
 
2.1  There are significantly increased political expectations for the Fire & Rescue Service 

nationally regarding workforce reform, increasing diversity of employees and improved 
culture and inclusion. In recent speeches, Brandon Lewis MP, Minister for Policing & 
Fire, has consistently set out the Government vision for three ‘pillars’ of reform, one of 
which concerns the fire service workforce. 

 
2.2  One element of this reform is to take a fresh look at how diversity in the workforce can be 

improved in order to better reflect communities and ensure that Services can benefit 
from a wide range of backgrounds and perspectives. The Government expects real and 
purposeful change and recognises that the role of culture and inclusion is key to making 
positive transformational change in the fire and rescue service. 

 
2.3  The Adrian Thomas review into conditions of service, published in November 2016, also 

provides a significant framework for modernising and transforming the workforce. The 
recommendations recognise that culture and trust are central to many of the changes 
needed to create high performing fire services aligned to the needs of people. This 
includes the culture change required to accept that women, ethnic minorities and all 
groups making up the diversity of the working population have a place in the fire and 
rescue service. 

 
2.4  The plans to establish a new inspectorate for fire and rescue services, leading to greater 

transparency, provide an important backdrop to the required workforce reforms. The 
inspectorate is to be modelled on Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, with a 
focus that includes leadership, training, diversity, values and culture. The first inspection 
is likely to take place this year and will include a consideration of diversity in its remit. 

 
3.  LGA REPORT - AN INCLUSIVE SERVICE, THE 21ST CENTURY FIRE AND RESCUE 

SERVICE 
 
3.1  On 7 March at the annual fire conference, the Local Government Association (LGA) 

launched a report entitled ‘An Inclusive Service – the 21st century fire and rescue 
service.’ (Appendix A). The report is aimed at everyone with an interest in the fire and 
rescue sector but particularly at members of fire and rescue authorities. It focuses on 
recruiting, retaining and developing a more diverse workforce, essential to transforming 
the service to meet current and future challenges.

Page 12



3.2  The report argues that, whilst the role of firefighters has changed dramatically in the last 
few years in response to changing risks and demands, many potential recruits are 
deterred by outdated perceptions of the job. Therefore, Services are missing out on a 
large pool of talent as many people think it is not a profession for them. This is occurring 
at a time when the best talent is needed to respond to the significant changes that lie 
ahead. The report stresses the need to challenge existing stereotypes of who can be a 
firefighter and what the job involves if the best recruits are to be attracted. 

 
3.3  The report is very practical and includes case studies, best practice and viewpoints from 

diverse perspectives. Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service is included in the report 
as an example of best practice in providing support for lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender employees through the development of the Fire Pride network. It also 
referenced the work done to achieve a more inclusive culture around sexual orientation, 
guided by Stonewall’s Workplace Equality Index. This was recognised by the 
achievement in two consecutive years of a place in Stonewall’s top 100 employers for 
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) Equality and the Service continues to 
be a Stonewall diversity champion. 

 
4.  NATIONAL PEOPLE STRATEGY 
 
4.1  The LGA report outlines how the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) is developing a 

people strategy in response to the recommendations in the Adrian Thomas review; in Sir 
Ken Knight’s “Facing the Future” report and to the drivers for change linked to the 
reduction in fires and the increase in partnerships and collaboration. 

 
4.2  It is the NFCC’s intention that every fire and rescue service either amends the strategy to 

produce their own local strategy or ensures the main themes and principles are echoed 
in their own strategy. The national strategy will identify six key areas of work: 

 Strengthening leadership and line management to support organisational change 
and improved community outcomes; 

 Developing cultural values and behaviours that make the fire and rescue service 
a great place to work for all employees; 

 Developing ways of working that are able to respond to service needs; 

 Providing excellent training and education to ensure continuous improvement of 
services to the public; 

 Continuing to support the health and wellbeing of all employees; 

 Strengthening our ability to provide good services by diversifying our staff and 
creating a fair and equal place to work. 

 
4.3  The report concludes by posing fifty questions, developed through reflection on the 

comments and input from the individuals and groups who contributed to the report. The 
purpose of the questions is not to provide a checklist but to provide a starting point for 
further thought and conversations for both members and officers. 

 
4.4  The questions cover the following areas: 

 Workforce data – e.g. collection, monitoring and action planning on workforce 
diversity monitoring at all stages of the employment lifecycle. 

 Recruitment – e.g. positive action initiatives, apprenticeships, targeting, barriers 
to recruitment;

Page 13



 Workplace culture – e.g. staff views on culture, approach to inclusion, 
unconscious bias, inclusive leadership. 

 Perception – e.g. public image, community engagement, use of social media, 
publicity materials. 

 
5.  DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE SERBVICE ACHIEVEMENTS IN EQUALITY, 

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 
 
5.1  For many years, the Service has worked to develop and improve its approach and 

outcomes in relation to equality, diversity and inclusion, recognising the benefits that will 
bring for both employees and communities. Through the previous Equality Strategy, 
Safer Lives, Brighter Futures 2012-2016, a number of achievements have already been 
made which support the proposals and recommendations in the recent LGA report. 
These include: 

 Engaging employees in developing new core values and a behavioural 
framework which are now embedded into working practices. The framework sets 
out what the Service stands for and what matters most to individual employees 
and the organisation and allows staff and managers at all levels to know what is 
expected of them and what they can expect in return; 

 Providing a new, simplified approach to the staff satisfaction survey focusing on 
the key drivers of employee satisfaction. The results have been embedded in 
various workplans and the survey will be repeated in June with the aim of 
increasing the response rate, particularly from the on call workforce; 

 Twice achieving a place in the prestigious Stonewall Top 100 employers list 
which recognises the contribution to lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender 
(LGBT) equality and diversity in the workplace; 

 Achieving a national ‘highly commended’ award from the Employers’ Network for 
Equality and Inclusion for the Fire Pride LGBT network; 

 In 2015, agreeing a positive action plan aimed at increasing the number of female 
on call firefighters (no wholetime recruitment was taking place at that time) and 
increasing the number of women in management positions and other senior roles 
across the Service; 

 Supporting women to attend the national Women in the Fire Service annual 
Training & Development weekend at the Fire Service College, providing 
development opportunities for both operational and support employees; 

 Developing and supporting employee networks including Fire Pride (LGBT), 
WANDS, the women’s network, and the dyslexia support network. The WANDS 
network has held development days providing opportunities for women and men 
to discuss and put forward ideas on achieving a better gender balance in the 
Service; 

 Reaching ‘Achieving’ level of the LGA’s Equality Framework for Fire & Rescue 
Services and continuing to develop equalities work and priorities against the 
criteria of the framework. 

Page 14



6.  RECENT WORK TOWARDS INCREASED DIVERSITY AND CULTURE CHANGE 
 
6.1  In December 2016, the Service launched a wholetime recruitment campaign, the first 

such recruitment in 8 years. In order to attract interest from a more diverse range of 
people, a targeted marketing campaign was launched. This ensured that the wording 
and images used in the recruitment materials illustrated the diverse workforce we are 
working towards. It also demonstrated the range of activities carried out by modern 
firefighters with the message that the role is about much more than fires. 

 
6.2  Women’s sports groups, public service degree programmes and black, Asian and 

minority ethnic networks were identified and publicity materials sent direct to them, 
encouraging applications from those who met the criteria. Social media was also used 
including targeted messaging. Two taster events were held on fire stations with around a 
quarter of those attending being women. 

 
6.3  2,483 candidates successfully registered an application by the closing date in January 

2017 of whom 293 (11.8%) were female.  Initial benchmarking with other fire and rescue 
services also recruiting wholetime firefighters shows that the proportion of female 
applicants is very similar nationally. Of the candidates who initially registered an 
application, 112 (3.9%) declared their ethnic origin as something other than white British. 

 
6.4  The testing and selection process for the wholetime recruits is still underway with 

interviews scheduled to be complete by the end of May 2017. 
 
6.5  In 2016, to support the scale and pace of change needed in the Service, the 

Organisational Development team was established. The purpose of the team is to 
transform corporate and individual effectiveness and support strategic priorities by 
improving the way people are led, managed and developed. The team operates by 
facilitating change and improvement with a range of planned, people-focused 
interventions using approaches drawn from the fields of organisational and behavioural 
sciences. 

 
6.6  The draft Organisational Development work plan is already very closely aligned to the 6 

themes (paragraph 4.2 of this report refers) in the national people strategy being 
developed by the National Fire Chiefs Council.  Work is already underway under these 
themes, including reviewing leadership and management programmes, improving 
promotion and progression processes, developing a coaching strategy and supporting 
suitable employees to undergo training, facilitating service mapping of support services 
and team development, progressing the principles of smart working and reviewing and 
developing policies and practices to support continuous improvement of the on call 
delivery model. 

 
7.  NEXT STEPS 
 
7.1  It is important to recognise and reflect upon the achievements and positive outcomes 

during the four year life of the Safer Lives equality strategy. This, together with the more 
recent work that has been carried out, or is planned or underway, means that the Service 
is building on a strong foundation. However there is much more work to be done, in 
particular to achieve the scale of change required to support our communities in the 
future. 

 
7.2  The Service is currently gathering and analysing data in order to produce a new 

Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) to ensure we have the right plans and 
resources in place to reduce the risks faced by our communities. This will set the 
direction of our work over the next few years.

Page 15



7.3  Once the IRMP has been agreed, a people strategy will be developed to ensure that the 
Service has the right people, roles, contracts, skills, attributes, policies and supporting 
processes to meet the business needs as set out in the IRMP.  It will also be closely 
linked to the national people strategy being developed by the National Fire Chiefs 
Council and its 6 key areas of work as set out in paragraph 4.2 of this report. 

 
7.4  Alongside the people strategy a new equality, diversity and inclusion strategy will be 

developed, building on the achievements of the Service over the past few years. The 
new strategy will need to be much more ambitious in its scope than previous strategies 
in order to drive the changes that will be needed to support the IRMP and to make us a 
more effective organisation that reflects our communities. It will address all issues 
relevant to equality, diversity and inclusion in the workplace at each stage of the 
employee lifecycle, including attraction, recruitment, retention, development and 
progression. 

 
7.5  As the recent LGA report reflects, cultural changes and improving the diversity of the 

workforce will take some time to achieve. The new strategies will define objectives with 
ambitious performance measures and targets well into the future. 

 
7.6  Preparation for the new equality, diversity and inclusion strategy is already underway 

through a review of the previous strategy and research into best practice elsewhere. The 
Service is committed to identifying and removing or reducing any barriers, real or 
perceived, to people from all the diversity groups applying to join the organisation. To 
support this, we are in the early stages of commissioning external research aimed at 
identifying these barriers in order to inform our future campaigns and activities.  

 
7.7  The questions posed at the end of the LGA report on inclusion (paragraphs 4.3 and 4.4 

of this report) are also providing a good vehicle for analysing the Service’s current 
position and giving direction and priorities for the new strategy. 

 
7.8  The National Joint Council has established the Inclusive Fire Service Group which has 

been undertaking national research amongst fire and rescue services and will be 
providing guidance and best practice. This will be drawn upon to develop our own 
strategy. 

 
7.9  It has been identified that some aspects of change can only be addressed nationally 

such as the public perception of the modern firefighting role. The Government is 
considering a national media campaign on the image of firefighting as a career. 

 
8.  PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 
 
8.1  The Public Sector Equality Duty requires the Service to give due regard to the need to 

eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct; 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between people. This ‘due 
regard’ is in relation to the protected characteristics. 

 
8.2  The Specific Duties of the Public Sector Equality Duty require us to have published 

equality objectives. There will be a gap this year until we have developed the new 
strategy, however the new Corporate Plan contains our three key commitments to 
equality, diversity and inclusion and these will ensure that we are meeting the 
requirements of the Specific Duties. The relevant extract from the Corporate Plan is: 

 
 “We put people and their individual needs at the heart of service planning and delivery 

and in our workplace practices. Our main equality, diversity and inclusion priorities are:

Page 16



 Increasing public and community awareness of risk in order to reduce harm 

 Delivering improved, tailored services by analysing and acting upon equality, 
diversity and inclusion considerations 

 Achieving a workforce that reflects the diversity of our communities and that is 
closely aligned to our core values.” 

 
9.  CONCLUSION 
 
9.1  There are significantly increased political expectations for the Fire & Rescue Service 

nationally regarding workforce reform, increasing diversity of employees and improved 
culture and inclusion. The Service has already made progress in these areas over the 
past few years and has a number of plans already in place. The future approach will be 
driven by the new IRMP and a new people strategy and equality, diversity and inclusion 
strategy. These will enable the Service to achieve the cultural changes needed to 
support current and future challenges and to make us a more inclusive, diverse and 
effective public service that reflects our communities. 

 
9.2  It is recommended that the report be noted. 
 
 GLENN ASKEW  
 Assistant Chief Fire Officer (Service Improvement) 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Report

An inclusive 
service 
The twenty-first century fire 
and rescue service 

Page 19



Page 20



Introduction 4

The future pattern of  recruitment 7

Retained duty system reform 10

National Fire and Rescue People Strategy 11

Innovation in diversity – leading the way through positive action 13

Viewpoint – Equality and Human Rights Commission 15

Case study – West Midlands Fire and Rescue Service 17

Case study – Positive action, Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service 17

Viewpoint – Fire Brigades Union 20

‘Let’s not reinvent the wheel’ – what can we learn from policing? 22

Viewpoint – Diane Dunlevey, Asian Fire Service Association (AFSA) Chair  
and Yasmin Bukhari, AFSA General Secretary 26

Viewpoint – Denise Keating, Chief  Executive, Employers Network for  
Equality & Inclusion (enei) 28

Viewpoint – Stonewall 30

Viewpoint – brap 32

Viewpoint – Nicky Thurston, National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC), 
Diversity Co-lead 34

London’s inclusion strategy 36

The Inclusive Fire Service Group 37

Viewpoint – quiltbag 39

Viewpoint – Kathryn Billing, Flexi Duty Officer, Cornwall Fire,  
Rescue and Community Safety Service 41

Viewpoint – Dany Cotton, London Fire Commissioner and Chair  
of  Women in the Fire Service 43

Local Government Association’s equality and diversity improvement work 45

Conclusion and questions 47

Contents

Page 21



4          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Introduction

As the lead members of the Local 
Government Association’s Fire Services 
Management Committee (FSMC), we are 
proud to be a part of the fire and rescue 
sector. Our service is respected by the public 
and welcomed into their homes. We have an 
enviable record in fire prevention – one that 
many public services could learn from – and 
our pride in our service is widely shared 
by our fellow politicians on fire and rescue 
authorities across the country and among all 
our staff. 

There is little doubt, therefore, that for all of us 
in the fire and rescue sector, the Fire Minister’s 
speech to the Asian Fire Service Association 
last November made difficult reading. The 
Minister did not pull his punches, calling 
the lack of diversity revealed by the latest 
operational statistics ‘woeful... shockingly and 
embarrassingly bad’.1 Of course, we can point 
to the financial pressures that have hampered 
the recruitment of a more diverse workforce, 
but ethnic minorities make up just 3.8 per 
cent of firefighters while only 5 per cent are 
women.2 The picture in other parts of the 
service is better, but it is noticeable that there 
has been little change during the past five 
years as recruitment has dropped off.

The Minister is right to say that this is 
unacceptable. 

It is also detrimental to our service.  
The public respect us, but too many of them 
do not see us as potential employers. We are 
denying ourselves access to an enormous 
pool of talent, at a time when the service we 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/brandon-lewiss-
speech-to-the-asian-fire-service-association

2 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-
statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf 

provide is changing in significant ways.  
No business would expect to thrive by doing 
this and nor can we. The old clichés that 
‘women can’t carry people out of burning 
buildings’ or certain ethnic groups ‘don’t want 
to be firefighters’ are no longer acceptable 
and must be challenged. 

The financial barrier to recruitment is lifting – 
not fully, and, as we show in this document, 
not to the extent sometimes envisaged in 
Whitehall – but it is lifting. Most fire and rescue 
services expect to recruit new firefighters 
in the next five years. As our case studies 
show, fire and rescue services are already 
working to meet the challenge of recruiting a 
representative workforce, but even innovative 
approaches to recruitment can only achieve 
so much. A change of culture and perception 
is required if our efforts are to meet a 
receptive audience of potential recruits. 
Action on diversity should not be confined to 
recruitment at entry level. We need to open 
ourselves to the wealth of external talent 
available to fill senior posts and to making the 
most of the talent we already have by ensuring 
diversity in promotion and development. We 
need to be and to be seen as an inclusive 
workplace.

We have an opportunity to change both 
the demographics of the workforce and the 
perception of our work. It is an opportunity  
we have to take. 

The Local Government Association (LGA) 
is determined to work with the National Fire 
Chiefs Council (NFCC), the Home Office and 
our other partners to do so.

The Inclusive Fire Service Group has been 
working to this end for nearly two years 
already and fire and rescue authorities 
around the country have been pursuing 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/brandon-lewiss-speech-to-the-asian-fire-service-association
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/brandon-lewiss-speech-to-the-asian-fire-service-association
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf


5          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

the inclusivity agenda – a few examples of 
the many initiatives involved are included 
here. We need to significantly increase the 
rate of change however and together with 
the NFCC, Asian Fire Service Association 
(ASFA), Women in the Fire Service, quiltbag, 
Stonewall and trade unions, we signed the 
recent Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
setting out principles around our approach 
to diversity and a list of actions which we are 
now pursuing. The effect of these actions 
will be monitored and the MoU reviewed to 
ensure we are delivering effectively.

This document is aimed at everyone with 
an interest in our sector but in particular at 
members of fire and rescue authorities. It has 
three aims:

• to provide an opportunity for those 
representing female, ethnic minority and 
LGBT firefighters set out some of the 
problems that they believe the fire and 
rescue service needs to address

• to suggest some of the practical steps 
that can and are being taken to improve 
diversity and which members will want 
to consider in the context of their own 
authorities

• to pose some questions that fire and rescue 
authority (FRA) members may usefully ask 
of their service and themselves.

We do not claim by any means to have all 
the answers in this document. However, it 
is a starting point and we intend to continue 
collating ideas and sharing best practice 
through a diversity web community.

We hope you will find this document of 
practical help, but the actions fire and 
rescue services need to take will vary from 
place to place. If our services are to reflect 
their communities, they will not all look the 
same any more than our communities do. 
Some approaches will work better in some 
places than in others and it will not always be 
clear what will work best where, until we try. 
Nevertheless a few key themes stand out:

• We need to change the culture of the 
service. This is not about setting targets, 
we need to create an inclusive culture – one 
which values individuals for the abilities 
they bring, not tick-box tokenism.

• We need to alter the perception of 
our service so the public can see 
our profession in its modern form. 
Firefighting is now a relatively small part 
of what we do, but it has a completely 
disproportionate impact on how we are 
perceived. We need to radically challenge 
this – possibly through a national campaign  
– if we are to attract the right workforce to 
deliver what we actually do.

• We need to learn from other sectors, but 
we also need to learn from each other. 
We need to share our ideas, our successes 
and our failures so we can all learn from 
them. We must not let our pride in our 
individual services stand in the way of this.

• As the political leadership of the fire 
service we must be the change we want 
to see. We need to use our oversight to 
ensure our service delivers on diversity 
but we also need to exemplify inclusive 
leadership in the way we treat each other 
and the way we talk about our work.

The changes in culture and perception that 
are necessary if we are to achieve a more 
representative service, fit well with the changes 
that our service has undergone in recent years 
and which will continue in the future. We are 
increasingly a prevention service, and it is 
not only fires that we prevent. For example 
drowning now accounts for more deaths in the 
UK than house fires and there is a clear need 
for action to reduce this through education. 

It is not only fire prevention which takes us into 
people’s homes, schools and communities, 
but looking at those broader risks to people’s 
safety in their own homes. Home safety visits 
have expanded to become safe and well 
visits in many areas, providing a more holistic 
approach towards safety in the home, going 
beyond fire risk and looking at a range of other 
issues like falls prevention, or alcohol use. 

Page 23



6          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Many fire and rescue services are working in 
partnership with health colleagues, with other 
emergency services and with local authorities 
on a range of issues from modern slavery to 
co-responding with the ambulance service. 

Our preventative role is already eroding the 
division between ‘frontline’ and ’support’ 
staff. Every role in the fire service contributes 
to prevention. We can expect to see 
other changes in the future too. Different 
approaches will work for different services 
but the existing distinction between wholetime 
and retained firefighters may not characterise 
the fire and rescue service of the future. 
The development of apprenticeships also 
offer possibilities, both in terms of careers 
in the service and in achieving a more 
representative demographic within the 
workforce. Indeed the service for which we 
are responsible may not be seen, further into 
this century, as a fire and rescue service but 
as one whose primary function is community 
safety and harm prevention. We will always 
be there when the public need us, but the 
popular image of the firefighter, already a 
misrepresentation, is likely to feel increasingly 
outdated as the twenty-first century moves on. 
There are many aspects to this change, this 
publication focusses on recruiting, retaining 
and developing a more diverse workforce, but 
that aspect of modernisation does not exist in 
a vacuum – it is part of a wider transformation 
that has been underway for some time.

These are significant challenges, but they are 
exciting ones too. We have an opportunity to 
deliver real change which will in turn improve 
what is already an excellent service. We 
want the twenty first century firefighter to be 
perceived as just as likely to be a woman as 
a man, free of racial and identity stereotypes, 
as likely to be visiting schools to provide 
fire safety advice as running into a burning 
building – a respected member of their 
community, with the skills and expertise to 
protect that community in numerous ways. 

The MoU on equality, diversity, behaviours 
and organisational culture in the fire and 
rescue service can be found here: 
http://www.local.gov.uk/
documents/10180/12157/
Diversity+MoU+30+January+2017.pdf/
cb4ac612-4ab6-45d6-8db7-b98c3e3924ea

Councillor Jeremy Hilton 
Chair, LGA Fire Services Management 
Committee 

Councillor Philip Howson 
Vice Chair, LGA Fire Services Management 
Committee

Councillor David Acton 
Deputy Chair, LGA Fire Services Management 
Committee

Councillor Rebecca Knox 
Deputy Chair, LGA Fire Services Management 
Committee

Page 24

http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/12157/Diversity+MoU+30+January+2017.pdf/cb4ac612-4ab6-45d6-8db7-b98c3e3924ea
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/12157/Diversity+MoU+30+January+2017.pdf/cb4ac612-4ab6-45d6-8db7-b98c3e3924ea
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/12157/Diversity+MoU+30+January+2017.pdf/cb4ac612-4ab6-45d6-8db7-b98c3e3924ea
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/12157/Diversity+MoU+30+January+2017.pdf/cb4ac612-4ab6-45d6-8db7-b98c3e3924ea


7          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

The future pattern  
of recruitment

The Home Office has made increasing 
the diversity of the firefighter workforce a 
key priority in their fire reform programme, 
suggesting that the ageing workforce would 
present opportunities to fulfil this ambition. 
The Local Government Association (LGA) 
conducted research in November and 
December 2016 to establish when the 
opportunity to recruit would exist in practice 
and to understand the services’ recruitment 
ambitions. 

The survey
The survey was sent to chief fire officers 
(CFOs) and chief executives of fire and 
rescue authorities (FRAs), and respondents 
were asked a number of questions about 
wholetime and retained recruitment as well as 
any recruitment initiatives to increase diversity 
they were putting in place. The survey was 
conducted in England and we had responses 
from 40 fire and rescue services, giving us a 
response rate of 89 per cent. 

The results
The majority of respondents, 90 per cent, 
anticipated that their service would be 
externally recruiting wholetime firefighters 
during the five years following the survey. 
Recruitment was expected to happen 
throughout the five year period, but 2017/18 
and 2018/19 were the years where recruitment 
was most commonly expected to take place. 

Although about a third of firefighters are 
expected to retire in the next five years,  
on average respondents expected to 
replace 14 per cent of their existing 
wholetime firefighter workforce over the 
next five years.

External retained recruitment was expected 
throughout the next five years by 93 per 
cent of respondents, with 2017/18 the likely 
peak. The average proportion of their existing 
retained firefighter workforce that these 32 
authorities expected to be replacing over five 
years was 27 per cent. However there was a 
significant variation: 22 per cent of fire and 
rescue services expected to replace 1-10 per 
cent of their retained firefighters; whilst one 
estimated that they would have to replace  
100 per cent. 

We also asked about any recruitment 
initiatives being put in place to achieve an 
increasingly diverse firefighter workforce 
(more representative of females and people 
from black and ethnic minority groups or 
the lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender 
community in both retained and wholetime 
recruitment). Eighty per cent of respondents 
said that they planned to put recruitment 
initiatives to encourage diversity in place, 
whilst 15 per cent said that they were 
considering doing this. Examples given of 
recruitment initiatives included outreach and 
targeted work to improve diversity, engaging 
with young people from underrepresented 
groups, running taster sessions for specific 
underrepresented groups, using social media 
for targeted advertising, and offering help 
with the recruitment process.

All respondents were then asked whether 
they monitor recruitment progress, from 
application to accepted offer of employment, 
in order to establish drop-out rates from 
females, black and ethnic minority groups or 
the lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender 
candidates. Just under half of respondents 
(48 per cent – 19 respondents) said that 
they monitor recruitment progress for all 

Page 25



8          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

of the groups mentioned in the question, 
with a further 28 per cent (11 respondents) 
monitoring some of the groups.

Whilst it is great news that 80 per cent of 
FRSs are undertaking recruitment initiatives 
to achieve an increasingly diverse workforce, 
this needs to be accompanied with monitoring 
to identify any trends for particular societal 
groups and to ensure that appropriate 
support is provided to applicants at the right 
point in the process. Without knowing why 
candidates with different backgrounds 
drop out or don’t pass then we cannot 
effectively address any barriers within 
the process which prevent a candidates 
performing to the best of their abilities. 

This detailed approach to diverse recruitment, 
while important, is only part of the picture. 
Research conducted for the London Fire 
Brigade found that:

Women looked for many qualities in a 
potential role, these often overlapped with the 
role of a woman firefighter. However, there is 
an overall lack of awareness of the firefighter 
role which often results in women creating 
perceived barriers 

As this suggests we are potentially missing 
out on high quality recruits due to the 
way firefighter role is perceived and need 
to consider how we can address that 
perception. This is an issue the LGA will 
consider going forward and we hope that 
thinking will be informed by the experience 
and views of individual services.

A similar issue may well arise from 
perceptions – and the reality - about the 
culture of the fire and rescue service. These 
are more difficult issues to address. Cultural 
change cannot happen overnight. Elsewhere 
in this publication we look at some of the 
measures, such as unconscious bias training 
and inclusive leadership that can help effect 
that change and the work the Inclusive  
Fire Service group is already doing. 

Monitoring statistics on exit interviews, 
grievance and disciplinary statistics and 
progression processes in a similar manner  
to that outlined above for recruitment, can 
help to quantify cultural factors which may 
impact on the attractiveness of the service  
to potential recruits. 

Conclusion
Recruitment is happening for both retained 
and wholetime firefighters over the next five 
years. For wholetime this will be particularly 
over the next two years. However, the 
opportunities for recruitment posed by an 
ageing workforce do not appear to be large 
scale for wholetime recruitment, though the 
picture is more mixed on retained recruitment. 
This makes it all the more important to take 
what opportunities we do have to recruit a 
more representative firefighter workforce. 

The LGA survey can be found here: 
http://www.local.gov.uk/research-
pay-and-workforce/-/journal_
content/56/10180/8195648/ARTICLE

For a more detailed discussion of the issues 
affecting recruitment, including an example 
of detailed monitoring of recruitment stages, 
see the London Fire and Emergency Planning 
Authority’s (LFEPA): Firefighter Recruitment – 
Outcome of 2015 and 2016 Campaigns and 
Proposals for 2017:  
http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/
mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=5790

For Future Thinking’s report on why women 
are reluctant to apply to join the London Fire 
Brigade see:  
http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/
mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=5777

Page 26

http://www.local.gov.uk/research-pay-and-workforce/-/journal_content/56/10180/8195648/ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/research-pay-and-workforce/-/journal_content/56/10180/8195648/ARTICLE
http://www.local.gov.uk/research-pay-and-workforce/-/journal_content/56/10180/8195648/ARTICLE
http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=5790
http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=5790
http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=5777
http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=5777


9          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

The LGA survey of  chief  fire officers and chief  executives asked 
respondents to provide any further comments on recruitment and 
diversity in the fire and rescue service. Eighteen respondents  
(45 per cent) provided comments.

• Several respondents suggested that there should be a nationally driven campaign to help 
ensure that the service is viewed as a career of choice by a wider group of people, and 
increase awareness of the modern role of a firefighter. 

• Some highlighted the fact that retained firefighters need to live within a short distance 
of their station. For some, this catchment area is made up of predominantly white British 
people, which impacts on their ability to recruit an increasingly diverse workforce.

• One respondent stated that they will be looking to undertake their new recruitment 
through the new apprenticeship scheme currently under development nationally, which 
was not covered by this survey.

• Finally, a range of practical suggestions were made, including:

• offering flexible contracts, which may differ from the traditional whole-time and retained 
employment arrangements

• developing a greater understanding of why individuals are not attracted to the service  
(for example is pay an issue?)

• rethinking the idea that every firefighter needs to be able to do every job

• creating schemes that support development such a supported two tier entry, managed 
promotion and active talent management

• providing advice on what is positive discrimination if all delegates reach a standard

• considering whether the national standards for fitness are appropriate for new recruits 
or whether they should that be a target to achieve as a probationer.

Page 27



10          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Reform of the retained duty system (RDS)  
is one of the developments that could assist 
the recruitment and retention of a more 
diverse workforce. 

The Chief Fire Officer’s Association’s (CFOA) 
strategic working group on the RDS is working 
closely with the Home Office to drive forward 
improvements to the retained duty system in 
a bid to improve recruitment, retention and 
resilience. This work will continue when  
CFOA becomes the National Fire Chiefs 
Council (NFCC). 

The strategic group contains representatives from 
the Home Office, Local Government Association 
(LGA), Fire Brigades Union (FBU), the Retained 
Firefighters Union (RFU), the Fire Officers 
Association (FOA), CFOA, England Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland. The group is chaired 
by a Chief Fire Officer (CFO of Derbyshire FRS) 
and is supported by a practitioner group that 
is producing some excellent information and 
evidence to support changes.

In addition the CFOA retained duty system 
communities information sharing platform 
has blossomed with much more usage of 
the portal and some great examples of 
information exchange across the UK. 

The CFOA retained duty system working 
group is focussing on:

• Workforce Pooling of knowledge on 
the various contracts and approached 
to the RDS system in use across the UK 
identifying innovation and good practice 
beyond the grey book. 

• Branding Addressing the issue of identity 
of the RDS to prospective employees, their 
primary employers and the wider public to 
ensure that the message is clear that this 

can be a job for all and the role of a modern 
firefighter is now much wider than the 
traditional perception. 

• Traction Identifying the methods that 
can be employed to ‘make the changes 
stick’, predominantly through identifying 
qualitative and quantitative KPIs for the 
inspectorate to consider in any new 
inspection process. 

• Medical Response This is linked to the 
current National Joint Council (NJC) for 
Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services 
trials and concerns the positive effect of 
engagement in medical response on RDS 
units for morale, recruitment and retention. 
The Practitioners group are actively seeking 
evidence to support this aim through the 
CFOA Communities network.

Further work is planned to discuss potential 
indicators and inspection key lines of inquiry 
that could be considered by the future fire 
inspectorate when reporting on how fire 
and rescue services manage RDS in future 
inspections.

In spring 2017 research will be carried out 
by the Home Office ‘Insight’ team into the 
barriers to retained recruitment. This research 
will in turn feed into the solutions for branding 
work and translate into marketing tools that 
can be used nationally to raise public and 
outside employer awareness of the retained 
model and its benefits. The practitioner group 
will be able to sign post the Insight team to 
groups including; employees, ex-employees, 
primary employers of RDS Staff, and primary 
employers who no longer employ RDS staff. 

This is the first time that a government 
department has invested in this kind of research 
and it is a welcome source of support.

Retained duty system 
reform

Page 28



11          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Following publication of Adrian Thomas’ 
independent review of the conditions of service 
for fire and rescue staff3 at the beginning 
of November 2016, the National Fire Chiefs 
Council (NFCC) is producing a people strategy 
for the fire and rescue service.

This offers not only a response to the 
recommendations in the Thomas Review but 
also to those in Sir Ken Knight’s ‘Facing the 
Future’ report4. It also offers a response to 
the main drivers for change in the service 
over the next five years arising from the 
significant changes that fire and rescue has 
seen over the last decade as the number of 
fires have decreased, and collaboration with 
a range of partners means the fire and rescue 
service now provides aspects of social care, 
education and wider community safety.

It is NFCC’s intention that every fire and 
rescue service either amends the strategy 
to produce their own local strategy, or 
ensures the main themes and principles 
are echoed in their own strategy. 

The strategy will identify six key areas of work:

1. To strengthen leadership and line 
management to support organisational 
change and improved community outcomes. 
NFCC is looking to develop a Leadership 
and Management Development Strategy. 
As part of this strategy there will be 
common development modules which will 
be common and relevant to all managers 
and development support available to all 
managers at a given level. The aim is to 
maximise the opportunities presented by 
information technology so that much of the 

3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-
service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review

4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/facing-the-
future 

programme is available by e-learning. Where 
possible joint modules will be developed with 
the police and ambulance service.

2. To develop cultural values and behaviours 
that make the service a great place to 
work for all our people. NFCC will support 
individual services so they can use 
the levers available to them to become 
better places to work for all, people are 
encouraged to have a voice and offer 
constructive challenge, and trust is 
promoted by accepting mistakes can be 
made but people can still succeed.

3. To develop ways of working that are  
able to respond to the services’ needs.  
NFCC will look to offer reward and 
recognition to attract the best, demonstrate 
leadership by providing clarity on pay, 
make the service more adaptable and 
flexible by moving from fixed duty systems 
to contract systems that help create a more 
flexible response so firefighter availability 
is linked to the planned work load while 
also providing response cover, continuous 
improvement of recruitment and selection, 
on-going support for the retained duty 
system, and work with the National Joint 
Council for local authority fire and rescue 
services to ensure reforms are introduced 
effectively.

4. To provide excellent training and education 
to ensure continuous improvement of 
services to the public. NFCC will create 
a shared platform for learning, facilitate 
effective learning across the service, 
develop professional skills, facilitate the 
development of good IT and data skills, 
and support implementation of National 
Operational Guidance.

National Fire and Rescue  
People Strategy

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/facing-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/facing-the-future


12          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

5. To continue to support the health and 
wellbeing of all our people. NFCC will help 
services create wellbeing programmes that 
suit their needs, ensure firefighter safety 
underpins all the workforce work the fire 
and rescue service does, help individual 
services reduce reported stress and 
post-traumatic stress disorder as a result 
of work, provide training for managers 
on how to reduce the stress associated 
with change, and support family friendly 
processes and work patterns.

6. To strengthen our ability to provide good 
service by diversifying our staff and 
creating a fair & equal place to work.  
NFCC will encourage all individual services 
to put in place the policies and procedures 
to ensure that future recruitment is inclusive 
and fair, create better help and support for 
those at risk

These six areas will help deliver the common 
goals and principles set out the in the 
strategy. These include making the fire 
and rescue service an employer of choice, 
ensuring that firefighter safety and the safety 
of all the services’ people are important, a 
focus on good communications, support for 
wellbeing and attacking the stigma about 
mental illness, a more open career path that 
allows talent to rise to the most senior roles, 
making the service open and accountable 
to the public it serves, and increasing the 
diversity of the workforce. Action plans are set 
out in the strategy for each of these six areas, 
with the intention that the action plans can be 
refreshed on a regular basis.

Page 30



13          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Innovation in diversity – 
leading the way through 
positive action 
Wholetime firefighter recruitment  
in Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue  
Service 2016

Striving for inclusivity is at the core of 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service’s 
equality journey. The last three years have 
seen the service completely transform how 
it delivers its strategic aims and especially 
how it draws on the knowledge and skills of 
its diverse workforce to achieve these aims. 
A recent recruitment drive for wholetime 
firefighters, the first in over seven years, 
presented a truly generational opportunity 
to encourage under-represented female and 
ethnic minority applicants. There was a clear 
recognition that to serve a varying population, 
we require an extraordinary workforce. 

Changing the dynamics of an institution 
historically dominated by white males was 
never going to happen overnight. Challenging 
the many misconceptions that modern fire 
and rescue services had ‘little to offer’ by 
way of opportunity for women, or ethnic 
minorities and building trust would require 
a genuine ‘hands on’ approach; the best 
advertisement required the involvement of 
experienced individuals and partnerships that 
not only reflected their communities but were 
recognised by them. 

This communication strategy moved 
away from temporary ‘tokenistic’ gestures 
traditionally associated with equality and 
recruitment campaigns. In addition, to 
ensure we attracted those most likely to 
have an intimate interest in the area and the 
communities they would serve, a decision 
was made to limit applications to within twenty 
miles of Gloucestershire’s borders. 

Recognising that traditional generic adverts 
and anaemic publicity with little or no 
preparatory work would fail, the project team 
utilised a dynamic strategy which applied the 
following five principles.

• A closely networked campaign design that 
utilised skills in the workforce that clearly 
understood specific community dynamics 
and matching target audience needs.

• Direct community-based campaigning to 
secure credibility and shared campaign 
work. Face-to-face contact to develop trust 
and two-way engagement. 

• Visible media and publicity resources that 
directly and genuinely reflected the target 
community. Not relying on traditionally 
generic passive campaigning of ‘one size 
fits all’.

• Utilising technology and the broad 
spectrum of available media in a timely, 
relatable and relevant way. Well thought-
out targeted penetration utilising the 
‘community telegraph’, internet and social 
media, attempting to keep people engaged 
and informed throughout.

• Reviewing, sharing and learning from 
previous practice including maintaining 
ongoing relationships with important 
community references. Avoiding tokenistic, 
short term campaigns.

A programme of direct engagement 
established relationships well before 
any recruitment drive through meeting 
mosque leaders, local councillors, LGBT 
representatives, sports facilities, schools, 
community groups, and even fast food outlets. 

Page 31



14          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Female interest though considerable, 
identified a disappointing discrepancy 
between translating the many expressions 
of interest into actual applications (10 per 
cent). A review is currently underway to 
better understand and identify the reasons 
why women who demonstrated strong early 
interest did not actually go on to apply. 
Additional learning considerations included 
potentially adopting a longer lead-in time 
to increase receptivity through greater 
preparatory work. 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
recognises that its transition into a 21st 
century fire and rescue service will be 
influenced greatly by the dynamism and 
diversity of its workforce. Changing and 
challenging negative long held traditions 
at every level continues to progress, with 
initiatives ranging from a service-wide 
independent cultural review to unconscious 
bias training. Even the service’s core values 
have been re-developed through the 
Employee Network Group; an innovative 
partnership between senior managers, 
support staff and firefighters. This recruitment 
campaign which was neither expensive or 
resource hungry, will hopefully see a new 
generation of firefighters moving into a culture 
where development will be based on talent; 
retention will be supported through mental 
and wellbeing policies and most importantly 
communities will be served by individuals that 
actually reflect and understand them. 

*Sources – House of Commons Briefing Paper 
June 2016, Fire Operational Statistics 2015/16 
and Gloucestershire Census figures 2011.

These important community references not 
only added credibility to the campaign but 
actually helped to promote it. 

A set of frequently asked questions (FAQs) 
were carefully drafted to answer any concerns 
on how the service actively welcomed  
cultural and religious diversity. The FAQs 
addressed common misconceptions around 
height, fitness and strength while explaining 
that considerations around keeping beards, 
fasting, prayers, dreadlocks etc. were 
managed entirely within the context of 
maintaining firefighter safety.

The campaign utilised the full spectrum 
of available media including community 
radio, leaflets, posters and social media in a 
targeted and intelligent way. Advertising to a 
range of women’s organisations and groups 
took place through social media. Face-to-face 
contact was followed by ‘have a go days’ and 
an opportunity to register for automatic email 
updates. 

Displayable printed publicity material 
that could be adapted for social media 
was specially designed to visually reflect 
black, Asian and ethnic minority (BAME) 
communities. Valuable local community radio 
exposure generated through a live interview 
was followed by adverts produced by an 
experienced black crew manager. 

The campaign resulted in some significant 
success in attracting applications from  
BAME communities with the proportion 
of minority applicants (5.1 per cent) only 
marginally less than the county’s overall 
population of 6.2 per cent. 

Page 32



15          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Modern public services need to reflect the 
people they serve. This is about fairness and 
attracting and recruiting from the broadest 
pool of talent; and it is about making sure that 
public bodies like fire and rescue services 
understand and respond to the different 
needs of the people they protect and come 
into contact with.5 

The Equality Act 2010 prohibits employers 
and service providers from discriminating 
against their employees or customers for 
reasons relating to a protected characteristic. 
Protected characteristics are:

• age

• disability

• gender reassignment

• pregnancy and maternity

• race 

• religion or belief 

• sex 

• sexual orientation 

• marriage and civil partnership.6 

The Equalities Act introduced the Public 
Sector Equality Duty (PSED), under which fire 
and rescue services must have due regard to 
the need to: 

• eliminate discrimination

• advance equality of opportunity

• foster good relations

5 See for example the research for the NHS by Roger 
Kline (2014) at: https://www.en gland.nhs.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2014/08/edc7-0514.pdf 

6 Marriage and civil partnership is also a protected 
characteristic, but only in relation to eliminating 
discrimination in employment. 

The PSED (public sector equality duty) is 
a ‘General Duty’ and provides FRAs with a 
framework for considering equality across 
their employment of staff, the services they 
provide and the decisions they take.  

Public bodies in England have two additional 
specific duties, requiring them:

• to publish one or more equality objectives

• to annually publish equality information  
to demonstrate compliance with the 
equality duty.

A third duty on gender pay gaps is due to  
be introduced in 2017. 

The types of information that English public 
bodies may want to collect and publish can 
be found on page four of the Government’s 
quick start guide to the specific duties: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85049/
specific-duties.pdf

In Wales, the three fire and rescue services 
have more prescriptive specific duties.  
You can read about these here: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/
advice-and-guidance/guides-psed-wales

It is essential that fire and rescue services 
continue to take action to identify and address 
any under-representation that they may 
have in their workforce, in different roles 
and at every level of seniority. Sometimes 
this is about challenging assumptions and 
stereotypes about what people can and 
cannot do. 

Viewpoint

Equality and Human Rights 
Commission

Page 33

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/edc7-0514.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/edc7-0514.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85049/specific-duties.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85049/specific-duties.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/85049/specific-duties.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/guides-psed-wales
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/guides-psed-wales


16          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

The Act allows employers to take positive 
steps to improve work opportunities for 
people with, or who share a protected 
characteristic if, for example, their 
representation in the composition of the 
workforce is disproportionately low. 

This is called ‘positive action’. Examples 
of ‘positive action’ would include stating 
in job advertisements that applications 
from individuals with a particular protected 
characteristic are welcome. It would also 
include providing training and mentoring to 
black, Asian or ethnic minority (BAME) staff, 
for example, if they were under-represented at  
a senior level within the organisation. 

However, a job should always be offered on 
the basis of merit to the best candidate and 
it would usually be unlawful discrimination to 
restrict applications to people with, or who 
share, a particular protected characteristic.

For more information on positive action and 
recruitment and promotion, please see here: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/
publication-download/what-equality-law-
means-you-employer-training-development-
promotion-and

For more information on the Equalities  
Act for employers please see here:  
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/
advice-and-guidance/equality-act-guidance

For more information for service providers 
please see here. 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/
en/publication-download/equality-act-
2010-summary-guidance-services-public-
functions-and-associations

For further information on the key equality  
and human rights challenges facing  
Britain, please refer to our series of  
Is Britain Fairer? reports here:  
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/
britain-fairer

Page 34

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/what-equality-law-means-you-employer-training-development-promotion-and
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/what-equality-law-means-you-employer-training-development-promotion-and
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/what-equality-law-means-you-employer-training-development-promotion-and
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/what-equality-law-means-you-employer-training-development-promotion-and
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/equality-act-2010-summary-guidance-services-public-functions-and-associations
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/equality-act-2010-summary-guidance-services-public-functions-and-associations
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/equality-act-2010-summary-guidance-services-public-functions-and-associations
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/equality-act-2010-summary-guidance-services-public-functions-and-associations
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/britain-fairer
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/britain-fairer


17          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

West Midlands  
Fire and Rescue Service

In June 2016, West Midlands Fire Service 
advertised an opportunity to join our 
Strategic Enabling Team (SET) in a 12 month 
development role. SET oversee the shape 
and direction of the West Midlands Fire 
and Rescue Service, and ensure that we’re 
meeting our legal responsibilities.

Three employees expressed an interest in this 
role and when reviewing interview paperwork 
it was evident that each applicant performed 
equally and it was not possible to identify a 
higher performer.

When considering the profile of this pool, all 
were male. Two were white British, and one 
was mixed white and black Caribbean.

Section 159 of the Equality Act provides 
that where an employer ‘reasonably 
believes’ that a candidate with a protected 
characteristic suffers a ‘disadvantage or are 
underrepresented’ in the workplace they can 
afford that person ‘more favourable treatment 
in relation to recruitment’ than someone 
without that characteristic. When considering 
the profile of our strategic enablers it is 
clear that ethnic minority employees are 
underrepresented at this level. Only two 
members of SET describe themselves as 
being from a ethnic minority group. 

Section 1597 stipulates that the employer 
must determine that the candidate is ‘as 
qualified’ as another. It is evident that all 
three applicants were of ‘equal merit’ in their 
overall ability, competence and professional 
experience. 

7 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/159

The decision was taken to offer the 
development opportunity to the ethnic 
minority employee, but it was clear that the 
offer had been made based upon his merit, 
performance and potential. 

Whilst we do not advocate a routine policy of 
treating protected groups more favourably, 
the action of enacting Section 159 in this 
particular circumstance was viewed as a 
proportionate means of achieving a legitimate 
aim, and we will use positive action in this 
context in a tie-breaker situation.

When using Section 159, selection must 
be on merit therefore candidates will not 
be considered as equal where another has 
exceeded during the selection process. In 
reality therefore, we will rarely find ourselves 
in this situation. We took a rare opportunity to 
fully demonstrate our commitment to diversity 
in a very real and tangible way.

The decision to use Section 159 was clearly 
communicated to the three applicants as well 
as the wider workforce. 

Positive Action, Cambridgeshire  
Fire and Rescue Service

Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service 
have 27 operational fire stations of which 24 
provide an on-call service. Of our operational 
workforce, 48 per cent are retained and 52 
per cent wholetime. Between 2000 and 2013 
only one wholetime recruitment campaign 
was carried out resulting in 12 firefighter 
appointments. Wholetime recruitment 
campaigns have been held annually between 
2014 and 2016. 

Case studies  

Page 35

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/159


18          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

There is a historical and present need to 
diversify our workforce. The number of 
women operational staff has been under 5 per 
cent and black and ethnic minority people are 
under-represented in all parts of the service 
– operational and support. The proportion of 
staff who identify as gay is also negligible. In 
2009 we did a piece of work to understand 
the problem better and to try some activities 
for encouraging more diversity. From that 
work we identified: 

• short term pre-recruitment positive action 
need to be balanced with long-term 
strategies

• all staff need to understand positive action 
as a principle and be involved in those 
activities

• we face the same challenges as many 
organisations and there is no ‘one solution’. 
We need to be prepared to experiment,  
try out a range of activities and not  
be disheartened at failures, but learn  
from them 

• care needs to be taken to ensure good 
relations between under-represented 
groups and the majority are maintained and 
anything that appears to be tokenism is 
avoided 

• this work needs to be resourced, 
mainstreamed and sustained whether 
recruitment is happening or not.

We developed a positive action strategy with 
a wide range of activities to help us focus on 
long-term and short-term outcome., 

Positive action in wholetime recruitment 
In preparation for a wholetime recruitment 
campaign in Feb 2015, a media and social 
media campaign plan was developed which 
included: 

• running three half-day, ’have a go’ sessions, 
one just for women reporters to encourage 
feature articles and one aimed specifically 
at women

• using paid for advertising on social media 
for the first time to target women including a 
video on YouTube. 

• profiling a number of firefighters on our 
website including women and staff who 
identify as BAME. 

• holding information sessions in community 
centres where there is ethnic and  
cultural diversity 

• poster campaign promoting firefighting 
in cities and towns with highest ethnic 
diversity and in places where women go 

• advertising through Women in the Fire 
Service and Asian Fire Service Association 
Networks 

• advertising in LGBT magazine ‘Fynetimes’. 

Four women reporters took part in the ’have a 
go’ session resulting in a good range of print 
and broadcast media coverage. In total,  
42 people attended the ’have a go’ sessions, 
of which 47 per cent were women. The 
Facebook advert targeting women to promote 
the ’have a go’ event reached 20,770 women 
in six days and resulted in 368 clicks to  
our website. 

A total of 221 applications were received,  
of which 13 per cent were women (compared 
to 7 per cent in 2014); 6 per cent identified 
as being of black or ethnic minority group 
(compared to 4 per cent in 2014); 5 per cent 
requested reasonable adjustments; and 3 
per cent identified as lesbian, gay or bisexual 
(LGB). Of the successful recruits, 29 per cent 
were women and 10 per cent identify  
as BAME. This is the highest percentage of 
both women and BAME we have ever had  
in one intake. 

The above was repeated for the 2016 
campaign and although the proportion of 
women attending a ‘have a go’ session 
was higher than in 2015, the statistical 
outcomes were not quite so good (10 per 
cent applications were from women; 3 per 
cent BAME and 2 per cent LGB; 2 per cent 
requested reasonable adjustments.) It was 
acknowledged that there was a lot less time 
to prepare than was ideal and the overall 
number of applications was down by 35 
which may have impacted diversity. 

Page 36



19          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Positive action in on-call recruitment 
There is an ongoing commitment to recruit 
retained firefighters who are able to respond 
to emergency calls within a five minute travel 
time from their local fire station. A different 
approach is needed in attracting on-call 
applicants as it is an ongoing process and 
the areas where we can draw from are 
restricted and not always ethnically diverse. 
The following has taken place over the last 
few years: 

• An information brochure was produced 
featuring on-call firefighters to try and 
reduce firefighter stereotypes.

• Posters and postcards were introduced 
featuring photos of women and men in both 
their primary roles and their on-call roles. 

• A move was made away from specifically 
mentioning the more traditional 
backgrounds a candidate might come from 
such as mechanic, engineer, builder etc.

• A dedicated on-call Recruitment Officer 
was appointed whose role is to co ordinate 
station activities and liaise with the central 
recruitment team, whilst raising the profile 
of on-call firefighters within the community. 
This has included looking at different ways 
to reach underrepresented groups. 

• Information evenings for potential 
candidates are held regularly and we 
encourage women and men on-call 
firefighters to attend those. 

This resulted in a significant increase in 
applications (122 applicants in 2012 to 248 
in 2013) and an increase in the numbers 
of female applicants from nine to 17. 
Appointments of women to on-call operational 
roles have increased as well and in the last 
three years this amounted to seven compared 
to three in the previous three years. 

Ethnic diversity in applicants has increased 
from 4 per cent in 2012/13 to 7 per cent 
in 2015/16. However this is not matched 
by success in selection. Further analysis 
has shown a range of reasons why BAME 
applicants do not fare well through the 
process but it is clear that a reasonably high 
proportion of those who do not have English 

as a first language fail the written tests or do 
not attend this part of the process. 

Other activities include: 
• Developed and delivered training on 

positive action for staff. 

• Ensured assessment and selection panels 
comprise male and female managers, 
suitably trained and from all parts of the 
organisation. 

• Did some introductory ‘unconscious bias’ 
training with assessment and selection 
staff. 

• Attend selected career events at schools 
and colleges – particularly in most diverse 
areas, to promote different careers within 
fire and rescue service. Members of the 
equality network often attend to ensure 
diversity in our Service is ‘visible’.

• Produced a ‘Careers at Cambridgeshire 
Fire and Rescue Service’ booklet featuring 
a wide range of roles and individuals. 

• In partnership with police, we held quarterly 
two hour ‘Insight to Blue Light” sessions 
to inform people about employment 
opportunities and roles in emergency 
services. These are aimed specifically at 
people from BAME backgrounds. 

• Built knowledge and commitment to 
positive action into station assurance visits 
to ensure staff understand why this is 
important. 

• Rolling out aspirations and providing 
support for operational Watches and on-call 
stations to engage with BAME communities. 

• Following research into why women may not 
choose to develop in service, introduced 
a six month development programme for 
all staff in non-managerial roles. Selection 
is by application and informal interview. 
The gender split for the 2016 cohort has 
been broadly 50/50 in applications and 
selection. Of those from the 2015 cohort, 
79 per cent achieved a promotion following 
this development programme. 50 per cent 
of the women in this first cohort achieved a 
promotion following it. 

 

Page 37



20          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Viewpoint

Fire Brigades Union  

Fire and rescue services (FRS) that are 
diverse and reflective of the communities  
that fund them is a common objective of  
both the service employers and the 
representative bodies.

For two decades the Fire Brigades 
Union (FBU) have had equality sections 
representing women, black, Asian and 
minority ethnic (BAME) and lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and transgender (LGBT) members. 
The sections are made up of officials 
democratically elected by members of 
their respective minority groups. Policy and 
direction is decided through annual general 
meetings where minority members submit 
resolutions on what they see is the priorities 
for advancing equality for their group. Each 
section has a national committee consisting of 
a chair, secretary and one representative from 
each region, the committees meet four times 
a year. Each equality section also facilitates 
an annual three day education event that is 
open to their minority members to attend.

The strength of the FBU equality sections 
lies with their ability to empathise with 
the issues that their members face. As a 
result of national structures being in place 
a wealth of experience of the issues and 
an understanding of the barriers has been 
gained. Through regular structured meetings 
members are able to bring forward concerns 
where the they feel the service isfailing and 
also share experience on where the service 
isdoing good work that may benefit in other 
brigades. The FBU equality sections also 
work closely with each other. Needs of each 
section members may differ but inclusion is 
about the need to recognise and respect and 
value difference.

Equality section officials seek to work with fire 
service employers to advance equality and 
diversity and in some cases this has been 
problematic where poor industrial relations 
have been in place. Experience has shown 
that the greatest advances in diversity have 
been achieved through joint working and 
engagement with equality section officials 
and the leadership in the service. This 
used to include an annual meeting with 
the Fire Minister where each section would 
have the opportunity to bring three issues 
they felt were important to their members, 
however these meeting ceased in 2011. 
FBU equality sections believe there is an 
important message to be sent out in terms of 
commitment to equality and diversity and that 
must start at the very top of the industry at 
ministerial level.

Equality section officials can often find it 
difficult to secure time off to attend meetings 
and perform the work they are committed to. 
Services often fail to recognise the benefit 
of the work that these officials are trying 
to do and the inability to attend meetings 
can obstruct progress being made. Also 
where section officials don’t feel valued and 
supported by their services they are less 
likely to continue to contribute to equality 
and diversity and retention of the skills and 
knowledge of those officials could be lost. 
Services need to move forward from equality 
and diversity being a nice to have to a 
position of recognition that publicly funded 
services must be reflective of those who pay 
for them.

Page 38



21          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Austerity and cuts to the service has 
presented challenges in improving the diverse 
make-up of the workforce with many services 
reducing recruitment. However, we are now 
seeing more services engaging in recruitment. 
Some services are seeking to target their 
recruitment but this should be handled with 
caution. Some services are stating that they 
are particularly keen to receive applications 
from women and BAME potential employees. 
Recruitment should be about inclusion and 
improving reflection of the workforce’s make-
up and therefore recruitment, if targeted, 
should be aimed at underrepresented groups 
that form the communities they serve. There is 
a role for targets but there is also a danger of 
creating a hierarchy of equality if one minority 
is seen to be favoured above another.

In order to make progress in making the 
service inclusive we need to recognise the 
current assets that the service has. The 
people who know the issues best are those 
who already work within the service and the 
FBU equality sections have a wealth of skill 
and knowledge to give back to the service. 
Joint working between employers and the rep 
bodies on an issue that we share common 
goals not only makes sense but presents the 
best opportunity for progress to be achieved. 

Page 39



22          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

‘Let’s not reinvent the 
wheel’ – what can we  
learn from policing?
“Policing has shown that improvements 
can be made as the rate of police joiners 
from a BAME background was over 12 
per cent in 2015 to 2016 and as high as 
one in 4 new recruits in the Metropolitan 
Police serving as it does a multicultural 
metropolis. This is the result of 
determined action across police forces, 
using targeted attraction strategies and 
redesigned recruitment practices, and 
the sector leadership of the College of 
Policing which has published advice on 
the use of lawful positive action, as well 
as case studies from forces showing what 
can be achieved.”

Brandon Lewis, Fire Minister, speech to 
Asian Fire Service Association (AFSA) 
Conference November 2016

The College of Policing was established three 
years ago to be a world-class professional 
body, equipping its members with the skills 
and knowledge to prevent crime, protect the 
public and secure public trust. The college 
sets professional standards that inform the 
inspection regime of police services. 

In 2015 the college conducted a leadership 
review of the police service, which sought to 
challenge a command and control approach 
to leadership, the police’s existing macho 
image and an approach to diversity which 
sought merely to comply with legislation. 
Instead the college sought to promote to a 
model based on cultural change, treating 
people as individuals valued for the diverse 
qualities they can bring to the service. 

The evidence collected for the review 
suggested that ‘diverse teams are stronger 
and more successful when they accept  
and encourage differing perspectives,  
enable people to be authentic and bring 
positive attitudes and external influences to 
their professional life’.

The review defines leadership as ‘not the  
sole preserve of those in high-ranking roles, 
but a capability that is necessary and can  
be developed at every level’. 

The review’s comment that ‘at the individual 
level, everyone working in policing needs 
leadership attributes to be successful in their 
role’ is equally true of the fire and rescue 
service. Leadership qualities are as important 
at the watch,and crew level as they are at 
senior levels. These requirements extend too, 
to the political leaders of the service.  
The Review’s first recommendation is that:

Existing police leaders should influence 
and drive the required culture change by 
demonstrating their own commitment.
Other recommendations included:

• Advertise all vacancies for recruitment and 
promotion nationally. To ensure the widest 
pool of capable and suitably qualified 
candidates. 

• All assessments for recruitment, selection, 
or promotion should reflect and promote the 
principles set out in the College’s Code of 
Ethics: accountability, integrity, openness, 
fairness, leadership, respect, honesty, 
objectivity and selflessness. 

• Provide a structure of entry, exit and  
re-entry points to allow career flexibility.

Page 40



23          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

• Create a new model of leadership and 
management training and development 
which is accessible to all within policing.

The review has allowed the police to have a 
necessary conversation about diversity. That 
conversation is already underway in the fire 
service but needs to be at the forefront of 
thinking about recruitment, standards and 
culture.

Examples of actions the police have taken 
to increase recruitment diversity range 
from changes to the physical fitness test, to 
using values-based recruitment to increase 
applications from and appointments of under-
represented groups on specialist firearms 
units (traditionally a largely male preserve). 

As the review concluded, ‘harnessing the 
benefits of diversity in communities and 
workplaces is both one of the greatest 
opportunities and one of the greatest 
challenges facing the UK.’ 

In attempting to meet this challenge and take 
the opportunity the fire and rescue service 
needs to take every opportunity to learn 
from businesses and services. The police is 
an obvious example, but members will also 
want to consider what local businesses and 
organisations may be able to offer in terms of 
experience in this field. In striving to represent 
our communities, we can learn from them and 
seek their assistance.

For further information, the leadership pages 
of the college’s website can be found here: 
http://www.college.police.uk/What-we-do/
Development/Promotion/the-leadership-
review/Pages/The-Leadership-Review.aspx 

Examples of  police action on diverse recruitment –   
West Mercia measures

The police have to create an action plan on diverse recruitment following the leadership 
review. West Mercia police’s action plan covers a range of  issues from attraction of  
candidates through to retention and progression.

Attraction: 
• Recruitment Events – held regularly in the community, targeting areas with a high black 

and ethnic minority density. 

• Advertising through BAME media. 

• Utilising serving BAME officers as visible role models.

• University links – with a high BAME population to attract high calibre BAME applicants.

• Maintaining contact with unsuccessful candidates – a register of unsuccessful 
candidates should be recorded so that contact can be maintained to monitor interest in 
further opportunities.

Recruitment: 
• Workshops held to provide support and guidance to applicants on the ‘sift’, application, 

assessment and interview stages of the recruitment process. 

• Workshops to be targeted at individuals who have expressed an interest in a career in 
the police and to those that are already in the recruitment process.

• Budd/mentoring scheme offering BAME applicants a buddy/mentor who they can contact 
for any further support and guidance throughout the recruitment process.

Page 41

http://www.college.police.uk/What-we-do/Development/Promotion/the-leadership-review/Pages/The-Leadership-Review.aspx
http://www.college.police.uk/What-we-do/Development/Promotion/the-leadership-review/Pages/The-Leadership-Review.aspx
http://www.college.police.uk/What-we-do/Development/Promotion/the-leadership-review/Pages/The-Leadership-Review.aspx


24          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

• Vetting procedure to be bought forward to the beginning of the recruitment process. 

• Vetting panel to be put in place to review and consider borderline cases.

• College of Policing pre-vetting tool to be implemented as part of the recruitment site 

• Pre-entry Qualifications – applicants without suitable pre-entry qualifications to be made 
aware of the Certificate in Knowledge of Policing (CKP) qualification. 

• Applicants without suitable qualifications to also be made aware of the benefits of roles 
as Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) and special constables and targeted 
recruitment of these roles to be carried out as above.

• Constructive feedback to be provided to all applicants to identify areas for development. 

• Positive Action Practical Advice College of Policing (PAPA) document to be used as 
a guidance tool for the implementation and monitoring of all proposed positive action 
initiatives.

• Recording Process – a recording process will need to be in place where the success 
rates for each stage of the recruitment process can be monitored for ‘protected 
characteristics’

• Awards – apply for Race for Opportunity, Employers Network for Equality and Inclusion 
(enei) and Recruiting Diverse Talent awards to achieve formal recognition for being an 
employer committed to an ethnically diverse workforce.

Retention: 
• Exit interviews for BAME officers and staff to be carried out face-to-face with senior 

manager and human resources (HR) representative/Minority Support Network (MSN) 
representative.

• Face-to-face interviews to help identify any underlying issues and barriers faced.

• Buddy/mentoring scheme – all BAME officers and staff joining Warwickshire and West 
Mercia Police to be made aware of the buddy/mentoring network at induction and also 
through MSN.

• Officers/staff to be advised to request a buddy/mentor through a positive action email 

• Communication strategy – to be developed to showcase good practice to the 
organisation through the intranet. This should highlight the importance of the BAME 
programme and provide regular updates on progress of the action plan. 

• Intranet site for the MSNto be developed.

• Review of leaver reasons – to be reviewed on an annual basis to identify any disparity in 
the reasons for leaving between BAME and white leavers.

• Misconduct/discipline/grievance – review the proportion of BAME/white officers and staff 
subject to misconduct/discipline/grievance procedures. This will identify any disparity in 
the proportions and also help to identify any underlying issues.

• Wellbeing Board – MSN representative to form part of the Wellbeing Board. This board 
looks at sickness and staff welfare issues across the alliance. A MSN representative on 
the board will allow any underlying issues and concerns to be raised at a strategic level.

Page 42



25          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Progression: 
• Review selection process – review each stage of the selection process for specialist 

posts to establish any adverse impact and to highlight any areas where there needs to be 
more effort and action through positive action measures.

• dentifying barriers – holding focus groups with BAME officers within specialist posts to 
identify any internal barriers which may be apparent and need to be addressed – this 
could be supported through internal networks and wider contacts.

• Advise Support Networks when specific adverts have been placed (eg firearms) to 
promote opportunities to underrepresented groups.

• Awareness days – holding awareness days for specialist posts to generate interest.

• Implement National Police Promotion Franework (NPPF) – implement the new NPPF and 
embed the values articulated in the principles from the Code of Ethics within the process 
to ensure fairness and transparency.

• Review Promotion Process – review success rates at each stage of the promotion 
process to identify any adverse impact and to highlight any areas where there needs to 
be more effort and action through positive action measures.

• Develop an evaluation and feedback process for officers/staff who are unsuccessful at 
interview.

• Unconscious bias training – research training courses on unconscious bias. Utilise this 
training to establish how unconscious bias can be reduced in selection processes for 
promotion/specialist.

• Mentoring network – mentoring network to be developed to offer coaching and mentoring 
throughout the alliance with a high representation of mentors from BAME backgrounds. 

• Review of personal development review process to be completed to identify how it can 
be used to match opportunities to individuals needs and aspirations. 

• Centralised approach for the allocation of development opportunities such as acting, 
attachments and secondments to ensure fairness and transparency.

• Development plans – template and guidance to be provided on their use. 

• Talent management scheme – researched and proposals put forward.

• Shadowing of the next rank to be formalised as a development tool. This could be 
incorporated into development plans for officers seeking promotion. 

• Leadership Courses – updates to be provided to BAME officers on the course dates and 
application process for the Releasing and Realising Potential courses.

• Awareness sessions held for thefast track programme.

• Progression questionnaire to be designed regarding the progression of BAME officers 
and staff. This will aim to identify those officers/staff seeking promotion or seeking  
to specialise. 

• Senior leaders to take responsibility for supporting and developing individuals from 
underrepresented groups. Consideration for this to be included as a PDR objectives.

Evaluation: 
• Evaluation process is identified within the delivery plan which measures successes 

against initiatives conducted.

Page 43



26          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Viewpoint 

Diane Dunlevey, Asian Fire Service 
Association (AFSA) Chair and Yasmin 
Bukhari, AFSA General Secretary

‘It’s more than just targets it’s  
also about culture, inclusion  
and accountability.’

The fire and rescue service, similar to 
other large public sector employers, has a 
long history of undertaking positive action 
measures. Positive action has been enshrined 
in the Equality Act 2010 and is an option for 
employers wishing to address an imbalance in 
their workplace in terms of workforce diversity. 
The experience of the fire and rescue service 
indicates the need to address three key areas:

• investing in long-term diverse positive 
action interventions 

• addressing culture 

• adopting the concept of inclusive 
leadership and accountability to ensure that 
positive action is understood across the 
organisation, is effective and is business as 
usual. 

The Prime Minister, Theresa May, in her 
previous role as Home Secretary, last year 
criticised the fire and rescue service for a 
firefighter workforce that was 96 per cent 
white, 95 per cent male and allowing a ‘culture 
of bullying and harassment’ in some parts of 
England and Wales. She reiterated that the 
lack of diversity, the existence of what she 
described as a toxic and corrosive culture 
in some parts of the service and a lack of 
accountability made necessary a programme 
of reform that was as “radical and ambitious 
as I have delivered in policing since 2010”.8

8 https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/may/24/
theresa-may-accuses-fire-and-rescue-services-failings-
diversity-accountability-bullying-reform 

Most recently, the Prime Minister ordered 
a review into how ethnic minorities and 
white working class people are treated by 
public services such as the NHS, schools, 
police and the courts. The audit is aimed 
at highlighting racial and socio-economic 
disparities and showing how outcomes 
differ due to background, class, gender and 
income. The Prime Minister said the findings 
would “shine a light on injustices”

Positive action
A number of fire and rescue services have 
undertaken positive action. London Fire 
Brigade (LFB) for example have implemented 
a number of positive action programs since 
2000. Programs such as: 

• open days specifically for women  
and BAME 

• targeted development and graduate  
entry scheme 

• mentoring and coaching 

• apprenticeships schemes and young 
offenders program 

• local intervention fire education scheme 

• community engagement. 

Other fire services have undertaken similar 
interventions

Most of the staff hired from under-represented 
groups have come into the service as a result 
of Positive Action programs 

Nevertheless the LFB workforce does not 
yet fully reflect the diversity of London, with 
operational staff consisting of just 7 per cent 
women and just over 12 per cent black and 
ethnic minority firefighters. It has recently 
agreed to work towards increasing the 

Page 44

https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/may/24/theresa-may-accuses-fire-and-rescue-services-failings-diversity-accountability-bullying-reform
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/may/24/theresa-may-accuses-fire-and-rescue-services-failings-diversity-accountability-bullying-reform
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/may/24/theresa-may-accuses-fire-and-rescue-services-failings-diversity-accountability-bullying-reform


27          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

number of women trainees to 18 per cent  
and the number of black ethnic minority  
fire-fighters to 25 per cent.9

Similarly Devon and Somerset Fire and 
Rescue Service has an overwhelmingly male 
workforce (only 4 per cent of firefighters 
are female), which over time had led to the 
emergence of a “macho culture”. This also 
made it difficult for gay employees to be open 
about their sexual orientation in the workplace. 
The organisation undertook certain positive 
action strategies designed to address the 
culture of the organisation. In 2011, they 
entered Stonewall’s Workplace Equality 
Index and decided to form a lesbian, gay, 
bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) employee 
network and network members were trained 
in appraising draft policies and identifying 
potential equality risks. Two years on, Fire 
Pride now fully embedded in organisation 
and making an impact and the organisation 
has moved up Stonewall Index rankings to 
54. As one of the judges concluded this was 
‘a difficult issue in a macho culture’. They 
secured commitment, put in place an effective 
framework and achieved culture change.

Despite progress a common complaint is that 
positive action initiatives are short-term and 
often teams and initiatives are disbanded.  
Therefore positive action needs to be a driver 
in the organisation’s talent management 
strategy; it must be seen as an approach to 
organisational development and creatively 
managing diverse talent; this requires long-
term investment. 

In addition our experience indicates the need 
for inclusive leadership and accountability. 
This means positive action measures and 
targets signed off at a senior management 
level, and published in the public domain, with 
key targets across gender, ethnicity, disability 
and sexual orientation. 

A good example is the NHS Workforce 
Race Equality Standard (WRES) introduced 
to improve equality across the NHS. The 
WRES requires organisations to demonstrate 

9 http://www.mfb.vic.gov.au/media/docs/Report_on_Positive_
Action_Porgrams_in_UK_Fire_Police_and_Ambulance_
Services-3e545a93-82c6-46b9-949d-be78406ad6d8-0.pdf 

progress against a number of indicators. 
There are nine metrics. Four of the metrics  
are specifically on workforce data and four  
of the metrics are based on data derived  
from the national NHS Staff Survey indicators.  
The staff survey information is used to 
highlight any differences between the 
experience and treatment of white staff and 
black and ethnic minority staff in the NHS. The 
final metric requires provider organisations 
to ensure that their boards are broadly 
representative of the communities they 
serve. This has allowed real accountability. In 
particular holding the organisation to account 
for the delivery of positive action measures 
and seeking assurance that the systems 
of control are robust and reliable. This also 
requires inclusive leaders characterised by all 
members of the organisation recognising  
that they play a leadership role at various 
points of the positive action journey and  
help create a supportive, respectful, warm 
and enabling culture as well as meeting 
agreed targets.

Fire and rescue services have a strong 
commitment to and experience of undertaking 
positive action. What we know is that 
where there is strong emphasis on long-
term investment in creative positive action 
interventions, targets and leadership, 
organisations are likely to see more success in 
their endeavours. The importance of culture, 
leadership and accountability and of creating 
positive environments for positive action and 
diversity and inclusion to flourish cannot be 
underestimated. 

We recommend that the senior leaders of the 
fire and rescue services take responsibility for 
meeting the challenge of positive action and 
workforce diversity. It will take concentration, 
long-term investment, vigour and persistence 
to ensure that positive action is, over time, 
effective and sustained. Now is the moment to 
begin. 

For further information, the NHS WRES can be 
found here: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/
equality-hub/equality-standard/

Page 45

http://www.mfb.vic.gov.au/media/docs/Report_on_Positive_Action_Porgrams_in_UK_Fire_Police_and_Ambulance_Services-3e545a93-82c6-46b9-949d-be78406ad6d8-0.pdf
http://www.mfb.vic.gov.au/media/docs/Report_on_Positive_Action_Porgrams_in_UK_Fire_Police_and_Ambulance_Services-3e545a93-82c6-46b9-949d-be78406ad6d8-0.pdf
http://www.mfb.vic.gov.au/media/docs/Report_on_Positive_Action_Porgrams_in_UK_Fire_Police_and_Ambulance_Services-3e545a93-82c6-46b9-949d-be78406ad6d8-0.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/equality-standard/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/equality-standard/


28          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

As part of their focus on diversity an 
increasing number of private sector 
organisations are now moving away from 
traditional leadership models and behaviours 
and adopting an inclusive leadership style. 
In 2016 the Employers Network for Equality 
& Inclusion (enei) published research 
conducted by Buckinghamshire New 
University which identified the competencies 
required of an inclusive leader and defined 
inclusive leadership as:

‘Leaders who are aware of their own biases 
and preferences, actively seek out and 
consider different views and perspectives 
to inform better decision-making. They see 
diverse talent as a source of competitive 
advantage and inspire diverse people to drive 
organisational and individual performance 
towards a shared vision.’

For the fire and rescue service, as in any 
organisation, leadership behaviours are 
critical to not only recruitment but retention 
and engagement of employees. The Thomas 
Review10 highlighted issues of bullying and 
harassment and also unhappiness with 
management relationships as a major  
issue in individual fire and rescue services 
across England. 

Fire and rescue authority members occupy 
a privileged position from which to mandate 
change in the demographic composition 
of frontline firefighting. The current lack of 
diversity across England’s fire and rescue 
services (the Thomas Review found that 
only 4.3 per cent of firefighters were female 
and 3.7 per cent were from a ethnic minority 
background) is incontrovertible and makes 
positive action in recruitment programs easily 
justifiable under the Equality Act 2010.

10 www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-
for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review

Fire and rescue authority members need 
to be confident in holding chief fire officers 
(CFOs) to account around diversity and 
recruitment and insist on proper targets 
and measurement of fire and rescue 
service composition. Crucially, this means 
understanding both the implication and 
application of the positive action provisions 
in the Equality Act 2010, as well as being 
resolute in their support of such initiatives 
and the reasoning behind them in the face of 
adverse public and media reaction. 

A common excuse for low diversity in 
organisations is a shortage of diverse 
applicants. A simple and easy way to 
increase applications from a diverse range 
of candidates is to target recruitment 
advertisements where a greater range 
of people will see them; for instance in 
community centres, at train stations or in 
publications targeted at specific groups.  
How organisations are recruiting is integral  
to who they attract and recruit.

Whilst these actions will help fire and rescue 
services increase the intake of diverse 
recruits, retaining this diverse workforce  
and positioning the fire and rescue service  
as an inclusive and welcoming employer  
will require significant cultural change. 
Frontline firefighters interact predominantly 
with their line managers at crew, watch and 
station level, which is why inclusive leadership 
behaviours and a commitment to diversity 
must be enforced throughout the organisation 
and not end once outside of headquarters.  

Viewpoint 

Denise Keating, Chief Executive, 
Employers Network for Equality  
& Inclusion (enei)

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review


29          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

An organisation facing very similar challenges 
to the fire and rescue service is the British 
Army, who have seen encouraging initial 
results through overt and visible commitments 
to quality and diversity from the top levels of 
the command structure, with a commissioned 
officer assigned responsibility for equality and 
diversity in each unit.

It is clear that the success of the fire and 
rescue service’s realignment towards fire 
prevention and community engagement 
following the Bain Review11 will be dependent 
on reaching the most at risk demographics. 

A diverse workforce is the only way that 
the fire and rescue service will obtain the 
cultural skills to engage with the increasingly 
diverse communities they serve, however this 
represents a huge internal culture challenge in 
order to build a working environment that rids 
itself of the white male banter which pervades 
many watches and stations. Leaders at 
all levels must change their behaviours if 
this is to be achieved, and fire and rescue 
authorities must be committed to holding their 
fire and rescue services to account.

11 http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.
communities.gov.uk/fire/firesafety/future/

enei is the UK’s leading employer network 
covering all aspects of equality and inclusion 
issues in the workplace. We work with our 
Members to achieve and promote best 
practice in equality and inclusion in the 
workplace. We focus on delivering high 
quality practical advice, products and 
services to our Members, including research 
and campaigning, best practice and 
guidance, employer led events, specialist 
training and consultancy support services.

Website: www.enei.org.uk

ACAS has produced a useful explanation of 
how positive action works in practice:  
www.acas.org.uk/media/pdf/d/8/Equality-and-
discrimination-understand-the-basics.pdf, 
pages 22-24

The Government Equalities Office has also 
produced a practical guide:  

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/85015/positive-
action-practical-guide.pdf

The enei/Bucks New University publication 
Inclusive Leadership... driving performance 
through diversity! Is available via enei’s 
website: 
www.enei.org.uk/publications.php/769/
inclusive-leadership...-driving-performance-
through-diversity-executive-summary?id=769

Page 47

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firesafety/future/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/fire/firesafety/future/
http://www.enei.org.uk
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.acas.org.uk\media\pdf\d\8\Equality-and-discrimination-understand-the-basics.pdf
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.acas.org.uk\media\pdf\d\8\Equality-and-discrimination-understand-the-basics.pdf
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.gov.uk\government\uploads\system\uploads\attachment_data\file\85015\positive-action-practical-guide.pdf
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.gov.uk\government\uploads\system\uploads\attachment_data\file\85015\positive-action-practical-guide.pdf
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.gov.uk\government\uploads\system\uploads\attachment_data\file\85015\positive-action-practical-guide.pdf
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.enei.org.uk\publications.php\769\inclusive-leadership...-driving-performance-through-diversity-executive-summary%3fid=769
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.enei.org.uk\publications.php\769\inclusive-leadership...-driving-performance-through-diversity-executive-summary%3fid=769
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.enei.org.uk\publications.php\769\inclusive-leadership...-driving-performance-through-diversity-executive-summary%3fid=769


30          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Viewpoint

Stonewall

The most recent Fire Service Operational 
Statistics Bulletin told us a lot about the 
diversity of fire and rescue staff – or did it? 
While it clearly provided some insight into the 
percentage of firefighters who are women 
(5 per cent12 compared to 51 per cent of the 
general population) and told us that just 3.813 
per cent of firefighters are from an minority 
ethnic group (compared to 1314 per cent of 
the population), the bulletin failed to give us 
an accurate picture of fire service workers 
that identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual or 
transgender (LGBT). Fifty-four per cent of 
fire and rescue services failed to collect this 
data, with reasons ranging from a lack of 
responses, to a high proportion of ‘not stated’ 
entries and lack of qualitative responses. 
The bulletin therefore relies on ‘experimental 
statistics’ in order to provide any information 
about the service’s lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender (LGBT) workforce – this results 
in significant quality limitations on the data 
and a lack of consistent information, meaning 
we simply do not know how many firefighters 
identify as LGBT.

Stonewall works with a large number of 
emergency services on our Diversity 
Champions programme. Through this work, 
we know that a lack of data on LGBT staff 
and service users is unfortunately just the 
beginning of a number of issues which 
contribute to a culture in the service which

12 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-
statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf

13 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-
statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf 

14 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
culturalidentity/ethnicity/articles/2011censusanalysisethni
cityandreligionofthenonukbornpopulationinenglandandwal
es/2015-06-18

is yet to succeed in creating a truly inclusive 
environment for all staff, not just those who 
are LGBT. For example, the 2016 Stonewall 
Workplace Equality Index found that of the 
emergency services which participated, just 
one third of services were monitoring sexual 
orientation when running staff satisfaction 
surveys with their workforce. This means that 
two thirds of services do not have an accurate 
picture of whether their lesbian, gay and 
bisexual (LGB) staff are happier or unhappier 
than non-LGB staff, and that’s before they 
even consider the experiences of their 
transgender staff.

We found in our most recent staff survey of 
the sector15 that 72 per cent of staff would feel 
confident to report bullying and harassment 
based on their sexual orientation, with 64 
per cent of staff feeling confident to report 
bullying and harassment based on their 
transgender status. However, the likelihood 
that they will be able to report to a staff 
member that has had tailored training to deal 
with homophobic, biphobic and transphobic 
bullying and harassment is just 47 per cent.16 
This is particularly concerning, especially 
when we consider the consequences of not 
training staff on dealing with LGBT issues at 
work: discrimination, ‘banter’, unconscious 
bias and a lack of understanding of the 
remit and impact of homophobia, biphobia 
and transphobia at work all contribute to an 
environment that excludes and ostracises 
LGBT people.

15 See Stonewall Workplace Equality Index staff feedback 
survey, 60,506 responses, 2016 https://www.stonewall.org.
uk/sites/default/files/top_100_employers_2016.pdf 

16 Stonewall Workplace Equality Index, 2016

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/563118/fire-rescue-operational-statistics-201516-hosb1216.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/top_100_employers_2016.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/top_100_employers_2016.pdf


31          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

We know that organisations that support 
LGBT equality and create an environment 
where staff are able to be themselves see 
improvements in staff productivity, teamwork 
and are better able to compete for talented 
employees.17 Individuals that work in open, 
diverse and inclusive environments have 
higher levels of motivation, higher levels of 
satisfaction and are more likely to go beyond 
their formal remit and make a contribution 
to the culture of the organisation they work 
for. This means that firefighters working in 
services committed to developing inclusion 
are much more likely to help create the 
change and culture shift that the sector 
needs. We also know that there is a clear 
business case to create an inclusive 
environment and that this doesn’t just benefit 
LGBT staff, but all staff in the Service.

In order to effectively embed change in 
the fire and rescue service’s culture and 
to ensure that services are achieving an 
inclusive and welcoming environment for 
LGBT staff, it is important to not only consider 
solutions in isolation, but to take a strategic 
approach that covers a range of areas: 
creating effective and meaningful policies, 
embedding high quality training that is 
targeted to key groups of staff, developing 
staff LGBT network groups, empowering all 
staff (not just LGBT staff) and equipping them 
with confidence to discuss LGBT issues, and 
effectively monitoring the workforce and any 
initiatives undertaken. In addition, the service 
as a whole needs to tackle the systematic 
barriers which we know LGBT people face 
– perceptions of discrimination by public 
services and a historically ‘macho’ culture 
all contribute to LGBT people feeling like the 
fire service may not necessarily be a safe or 
welcoming place for them to work.

The fire and rescue service as a whole is 
well placed to advance LGBT inclusion. Their 
community engagement, youth work and 
cadet schemes in particular provide a wealth 
of opportunities to promote diversity and it is 
crucial that services foster good practice and 
maintain the momentum of their work towards 

17 https://www.open-for-business.org/wp-content/
uploads/2016/01/Brunswick_Open_for_Business_full.pdf 

equality and inclusion. At Stonewall we know 
that people perform better when they can be 
themselves, and we continue to work towards 
a world where everyone is accepted without 
exception. We encourage all fire and rescue 
services to do the same.

For more information on the Stonewall 
workplace diversity champions  
programme see: 
www.stonewall.org.uk/get-involved/workplace/
diversity-champions-programme

Page 49

https://www.open-for-business.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Brunswick_Open_for_Business_full.pdf
https://www.open-for-business.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Brunswick_Open_for_Business_full.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/get-involved/workplace/diversity-champions-programme
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/get-involved/workplace/diversity-champions-programme


32          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Viewpoint

brap

The Thomas Review18 describes the work still 
to be done to improve the culture and trust 
between employees within the fire and rescue 
service, including addressing concerns 
around bullying and harassment. The review 
also identifies the challenge of developing 
a diverse and representative workforce and 
recommends rolling-out ‘unconscious bias’ 
training across the service. 

But what is unconscious bias? How can it help 
the fire and rescue service? This short article 
addresses these questions and ends with 
some useful tips and ideas for fire services 
interested in pursuing this further. 

What is unconscious bias?
According to a group of psychologists 
working in America, the human brain is 
designed to make quick decisions that draw 
on a variety of assumptions and experiences 
without us even being consciously aware 
that it is doing so. We all have these ‘biases’, 
ways of thinking and behaviour, which are 
part of who we are. Much of this comes from 
our socialisation processes, our upbringing, 
our culture, our friends, media and so on. 
These all influence how we interpret the world 
we live in and how we understand what we 
see around us. For example, we tend to like 
people like ‘us’ and associate with them more. 
However, having a preference for our own 
‘kind’ can also result in giving them favour and 
as a consequence and liking other groups 
less. We might not be aware of this type of 
favoritism, it is often automatic, unconscious 
and unintended. These thinking patterns can 
mean that we can be dismissive of people 
who don’t present the attributes we admire 
and endorse. This can have negative 

18 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-
service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review

consequences in areas like decision making, 
where we might assume that because 
someone ‘doesn’t fit’ they also don’t have the 
skills or capability to do the job. 

How can responding to unconscious  
bias help?
Unconscious bias training has been growing 
in popularity as a way to address these 
negative consequences of bias. Training can 
help individuals to recognise their biases 
and also has the potential to help people 
positively work to address their biases. This 
is challenging because bias is constantly 
reinforced around us, and unconscious 
bias, as the name suggests is difficult to 
spot. Yet, the potential rewards for the fire 
and rescue service are huge. For example, 
the Thomas Review refers to the impact of 
bullying and harassment in the service and 
how it is often explained away as ‘banter’ 
and part of the watch culture. It refers to 
failed efforts to attract, retain and promote a 
diverse workforce. The review also refers to 
divides between different professions within 
the service, and the way in which people can 
feel excluded and disenfranchised as a result. 
These are all topics that could be explored 
further through unconscious bias training.

Unconscious bias training is not a magic bullet 
which will cure all the ills of discriminatory 
behaviour. If organisations are really serious 
about helping individuals to address bias, 
they have to be accountable for the change 
that they want to see. They also have to 
provide ongoing support after bias training so 
people can work to identify and reduce bias in 
their work – one off training is rarely effective. 
In short, individual responsibility for change, 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conditions-of-service-for-fire-and-rescue-staff-independent-review


33          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

must go hand in hand with organisational 
responsibility to change, otherwise there’s 
little point. 

Improving the effectiveness of 
unconscious bias training 
• Bias training is varied. Deliverers do 

different things under this heading – 
make sure you understand what you are 
commissioning. 

• One off training (no matter how good it is) 
still needs reinforcing/support/opportunities 
for participants to talk about how they can 
use what they’ve learnt in their day-to-day 
work.

• Other interventions to reduce discrimination 
(eg blind recruitment, positive action, 
soft and hard targets and accountability 
at senior levels) can work in tandem with 
unconscious bias training to increase its 
effectiveness. 

• There is a growing evidence base of what 
works – so get good advice about what 
else you should be doing (we’re happy to 
help: brap@brap.org.uk)

• If you are unsure of what to commission, 
what results you can expect or how to 
sustain them – then don’t be surprised if 
bias training doesn’t work for you. 

brap is a charity providing support on 
equalities training, consultancy and 
community engagement issues.

For more about unconscious bias (sometimes 
called ‘implicit bias’) click on the links below:

Video about bias: https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=SLg3lHsm2bE

Article about bias: http://www.brap.org.uk/
about-us/blog/550-joy-warmington-and-roger-
kline-unconscious-bias-silver-bullet-or-just-a-
useful-tool

A range of tests to explore implicit bias can 
be found here: https://implicit.harvard.edu/
implicit/takeatest.html

Page 51

mailto:brap@brap.org.uk
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SLg3lHsm2bE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SLg3lHsm2bE
http://www.brap.org.uk/about-us/blog/550-joy-warmington-and-roger-kline-unconscious-bias-silver-bullet-or-just-a-useful-tool
http://www.brap.org.uk/about-us/blog/550-joy-warmington-and-roger-kline-unconscious-bias-silver-bullet-or-just-a-useful-tool
http://www.brap.org.uk/about-us/blog/550-joy-warmington-and-roger-kline-unconscious-bias-silver-bullet-or-just-a-useful-tool
http://www.brap.org.uk/about-us/blog/550-joy-warmington-and-roger-kline-unconscious-bias-silver-bullet-or-just-a-useful-tool
https://implicit.harvard.edu/implicit/takeatest.html
https://implicit.harvard.edu/implicit/takeatest.html


34          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Diversity is a reality – inclusion is a 
choice.

The National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) has 
signed the Memorandum of Understanding 
(MoU) on equality, diversity, behaviours and 
organisational culture in the fire and rescue 
service and is committed to its principles, 
commitments and actions.

Inclusion cannot be tackled by ‘quick fixes’, the 
starting point needs to be a strong set of values 
that the workforce identify with and hold true. 

The fire and rescue service (FRS) has a 
responsibility to pursue its goals in a way that 
maximises quality, effectiveness, sustainability 
and ethics. Diversity and inclusion is a 
necessary aspect of this aim, and the FRS 
needs to make a conscious choice to uphold 
inclusion and use their power to effect positive 
change on society. There is no stick, only the 
collective carrot, inclusion is of benefit of all. 

As leaders, we have the power to change things 
but we can do this more effectively by enabling 
each person within the FRS to give their best. 

We are proud to serve society - we have a 
clear social purpose, but how well do the 
public understand today’s FRS? The FRS is a 
brand to be trusted and we utilise this status, 
to allow us into people’s homes and their lives 
with outstanding results in driving down fire 
related risk. 

Awareness of our own self-identity and 
understanding our own unconscious bias 
is an essential starting point in developing 
cross-cultural awareness, but it is not a ‘silver 
bullet’. Understanding how we perceive 
ourselves and others is key to unconscious 
bias training but simply undertaking 

unconscious bias training is not an end in 
itself, and should not be seen as enabling 
people to avoid tackling the issues it 
identifies. 

As leaders it is our business to ensure our 
workforce have the skills our work demands. 
The fire and rescue workforce needs to be 
good at communicating with a wide variety 
of people, empathetic, customer focused, 
resilient, adaptable and emotionally intelligent. 
We need to get the best people for the job. 
The world is changing, the portfolio of skills 
needed by a firefighter is not constant, but 
evolving. Seeking a workforce with a diversity 
of experience and perspective – by fully 
exploring the diversity in our communities and 
encouraging applications from those who may 
have an outdated view of the fire and rescue 
service – is how we do that most effectively.

Each FRS is a microcosm of the world we live 
in and whilst we may be influenced by society, 
we also have the power to shape it. We need 
to have the imagination to be the change that 
we want to see whatever our role in the FRS. 

So, what do we do? Firstly, we take the 
opportunity to be honest. We must be brave 
enough to recognise our organisational 
shortcomings, but at the same time be clear 
about the mindset and culture we desire. 
Otherwise we run the risk of replicating social 
inequalities and pitfalls, repeating history and 
allowing the prevailing power structure to 
dictate how things are done. 

The NFCC’s National People Strategy 2017 – 
2022 has as one its key strategies ‘Strengthen 
our ability to provide an excellent service by 
diversifying our staff, promoting inclusion 
and creating a fair & equal place to work’. 
This must be central to all the FRS does, not 

Viewpoint 

Nicky Thurston, National Fire Chief’s 
Council (NFCC) Diversity Co-lead

Page 52



35          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

a bolt on, not based on a political rhetoric 
or philosophy that is not shared by all. We 
do this by capturing the imagination of our 
workforce; developing a movement of change 
from within. 

Systems and processes need to be aligned 
with the strategy, so that employees can 
speak up. Self-regulation, our sense of civic 
responsibility, compliance and principled 
behaviour will empower staff to be part of 
something they believe in, can defend and 
progress. 

Not withstanding the need for personal 
freedom, everyone needs to know that 
regardless of their position, capability or 
popularity that they will be excluded if they 
demonstrate words or actions that do  
not confirm to the desired culture of the future. 
There is no room for maintaining the  
status quo.  

We need to work together with patience and 
courage, to minimise bias and unfairness at 
individual and systemic levels, to challenge 
our own cultural assumptions. We need 
to work together to foster cross cultural 
competence to build greater empathy and 
cooperation. We need to work together to 
proactively create an environment that is 
effective, ethical, and inclusive. 

Useful resources:

A precis of the journey of the FRS over the 
last few years: https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=Ptm6kIJ8zaI 

Also this is Google approach to making 
unconscious bias conscious: www.youtube.
com/watch?v=NW5s_-Nl3JE

The Harvard Implicit Bias test:  
https://implicit.harvard.edu/implicit/takeatest.
html

Inspiring the Future – redraw the balance: 
www.youtube.com/
watch?v=qv8VZVP5csA&t=23s

Page 53

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ptm6kIJ8zaI
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ptm6kIJ8zaI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NW5s_-Nl3JE
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NW5s_-Nl3JE
https://implicit.harvard.edu/implicit/takeatest.html
https://implicit.harvard.edu/implicit/takeatest.html
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qv8VZVP5csA&t=23s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qv8VZVP5csA&t=23s


36          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

A 10-year vision to make the London Fire 
Brigade the most diverse and inclusive  
in the world.

London Fire Brigade has always sought a 
diverse and inclusive workforce, but despite 
the rich diversity of the capital, it hasn’t been 
easy to achieve. In 2016, we developed a new 
and ambitious 10-year Inclusion Strategy: ‘Safer 
Together’ – an unashamedly ambitious design 
to realise our vision.

The London Fire and Civil Defence Authority 
approved the first equality strategy for London 
Fire Brigade in 1996 − 14 years before the 
2010 Equality Act. It was good for its time and 
heralded a range of ‘firsts’, including our first 
policy for transgender colleagues; our first 
deputy assistant commissioner from a black 
and ethnic minority (BAME) community; and our 
first woman as an Assistant Commissioner, and 
latterly as director and then Commissioner. That 
last ‘first’ was me, and while I don’t normally like 
talking about myself, I have been very proud 
to be part of the change that the brigade has 
been going through in recent decades.

Our new strategy will drive the brigade 
past these ‘firsts’ and into a place where it’s 
expected to see women; lesbian, gay, bisexual, 
and transgender (LGBT); black, Asian and 
ethnic minority colleagues; and disabled 
colleagues in our top jobs. But the strategy is 
not just about under-represented groups, as 
important as they are. It is about everybody. We 
must consider an ageing workforce; we should 
be more aware than ever before about mental 
health and wellbeing. 

Critically, this does not mean lowering our 
standards. The job is changing rapidly.  
There are new living environments that seek 
new fire safety expertise; there are new social 
pressures that present new engagement 
challenges for public services; and we have 
new collaboration opportunities with other 
sectors -such as Health -that allow us to use our 
skills to save more lives.

We’ve called the strategy ‘Safer Together’  
as we agree with our colleagues in the 
military: teams are safer, happier and more 
operationally effective when their members 
are able to be their authentic selves at work. 
That means feeling comfortable to be ‘out’ 
in front of your colleagues. It means not 
having to tolerate ‘banter’ that is simply 
thinly disguised sexism. It means not having 
to suffer against the unconscious bias of a 
workforce that never needed to adapt and 
change to welcome diversity. We’ve known 
about these needs since that first strategy 
in 1996, but we have not done well enough 
in meeting them. Now we must.

Our unashamedly ambitious strategy openly 
discusses these important issues and sets a 
high standard that is expected of a profession 
held in high esteem by the public. We will 
nurture an inclusive culture by tackling 
unconscious bias, fostering professionalism, 
and helping our managers to manage. We 
will give additional support and recognition 
to our colleagues that dedicate time to help 
themselves in our growing support groups. We 
will work with our diverse communities to make 
them safe from fire, and to market opportunities 
to work with us. We will lead from the front, 
showing the UK fire and rescue service political 
and professional leadership by actively, visibly 
and ambitiously leading this important agenda. 
It will be an exciting decade of delivery.

London’s inclusion strategy

Page 54



37          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

The Inclusive  
Fire Service Group

The Inclusive Fire Service Group (IFSG) was 
set up by the National Joint Council (NJC) for 
local authority fire and rescue services as 
part of its continuing commitment to consider 
equality, diversity, and behavioural issues 
within the fire and rescue service. It brings 
together a diversity and depth of expertise to 
address this important and challenging issue.

The group is chaired by the Independent 
Chair of the NJC, Linda Dickens, and other 
interested parties such as the Chief Fire 
Officers Association (CFOA), Fire Officers 
Association (FOA) and Retained Firefighters 
Union accepted invitations to be involved. 
The group has also engaged with wider 
groups such as Stonewall, MIND, Women 
in the Police Service, Asian Fire Service 
Association, Women in the Fire Service, 
the FBU’s women, black, Asian and ethnic 
minority (BAME) and lesbian, gay, bisexual 
and transgender (LGBT) committees, and 
other trade unions (Unison and GMB Union).

The group was charged with assessing the 
current position and identifying any recurring 
themes. Then to identify guidance in relation 
to any strategies that could be used at local 
level to further encourage improvement. In 
doing so the group will explore a number of 
key indicators, issues and trends, including 
those listed below:

• low levels of female and BAME 
representation across the uniformed 
workforce 

• proportionally low levels of female and 
BAME progression through the roles 

• bullying and harassment issues

• lack of available data on LGBT uniformed 
personnel

• encouraging management commitment to 
consistently instigate and promote equality 
and diversity initiatives

• levels of grievance/discipline cases 
involving women and BAME uniformed 
employees.

Early discussion also identified potential 
problems with use of social media. The 
group has undertaken a survey of fire and 
rescue services to get an overview of where 
FRSs are with regards to their equality 
and diversity polices; where they sit on the 
FRS Equality Framework spectrum; which 
policies and initiatives fire and rescue 
services (FRSs) have in place (for example 
social media policies); any internal support 
mechanisms; and identification of any cultural 
or behavioural trends relating to grievance 
cases and formal level disciplinary cases. 
The group also drew upon the NJC’s regular 
Workforce Survey for information such as 
numbers employed in each role and within 
that the proportion of female, BAME and 
LGBT employees, age, ethnicity, and sexual 
orientation. 

It became evident in analysing data from 
the cultural and behaviour survey that the 
process was hampered by inconsistency 
across fire and rescue services in the way 
information was collected, recorded and 
monitored. Accordingly the IFSG is currently 
developing guidance for fire and rescue 
services in order to facilitate that consistency 
for the future. This will be fundamental to 
services identifying themes at local level and 
acting upon the information in order to make 
improvements, but also to inform the IFSG as 
it moves into more of a national monitoring 
role once its improvement strategies have 
been issued. That will include adapting the 

Page 55



38          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

strategies when necessary and developing 
new strategies as differing issues emerge. 

The IFSG identified a number of ways to 
explore and learn from the experience of 
employees directly, believing this approach 
will produce more meaningful and productive 
results than ‘top down’ prescription: 

Focus groups for female, BAME and LGBT 
groups were held in January and February 
2017. Participants were randomly selected 
by LGA Research from a list of those FRS 
employees who had indicated an interest. 

A survey of all employees, including support 
staff to explore employee experiences of the 
service as an inclusive place to work. Whilst 
some questions will be restricted to those who 
have identified themselves as female, BAME 
or LGBT, given the cultural issues in general, 
other questions will apply more widely. 
Importantly, of interest also are their views on 
securing improvements in the future.

Engagement with Equality and Diversity staff 
working in fire and rescue services as well 
as local union representatives through four 
regional workshops in order to draw upon 
their rich vein of experience not just about 
the current situation but also importantly on 
attaining improvements. 

Engagement with chief fire officers (CFOs) 
through two workshops in order to explore 
their views on what has worked in the past, 
what hasn’t and most importantly exploring 
what commitments that group could make  
on actions to secure future improvements.  

Building upon information received from 
all sources, the IFSG will develop and 
publish relevant and effective strategies 
for improvement at local level, which will 
be periodically monitored to assess impact  
and to adapt as necessary.

The guidance on personal use of social media 
policies developed by the group can be found 
here:

www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11687/
Social+media+guidance+-+circ+-++final+-
+complete.pdf/1500185e-84fe-4395-9c5c-
ac5f594910fe

The IFSG report, can be found here:  
www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/7734367/
workforce+-+fire+and+rescue+services+j
oint+circulars+-+Fire+Circular+NJC+6-16/
e6eab5ee-750a-4d6d-9b7d-d18ecb13eb24

Page 56

file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.local.gov.uk\documents\10180\11687\Social+media+guidance+-+circ+-++final+-+complete.pdf\1500185e-84fe-4395-9c5c-ac5f594910fe
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.local.gov.uk\documents\10180\11687\Social+media+guidance+-+circ+-++final+-+complete.pdf\1500185e-84fe-4395-9c5c-ac5f594910fe
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.local.gov.uk\documents\10180\11687\Social+media+guidance+-+circ+-++final+-+complete.pdf\1500185e-84fe-4395-9c5c-ac5f594910fe
file:///C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.local.gov.uk\documents\10180\11687\Social+media+guidance+-+circ+-++final+-+complete.pdf\1500185e-84fe-4395-9c5c-ac5f594910fe
file://C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.local.gov.uk\documents\10180\7734367\workforce+-+fire+and+rescue+services+joint+circulars+-+Fire+Circular+NJC+6-16\e6eab5ee-750a-4d6d-9b7d-d18ecb13eb24
file://C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.local.gov.uk\documents\10180\7734367\workforce+-+fire+and+rescue+services+joint+circulars+-+Fire+Circular+NJC+6-16\e6eab5ee-750a-4d6d-9b7d-d18ecb13eb24
file://C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.local.gov.uk\documents\10180\7734367\workforce+-+fire+and+rescue+services+joint+circulars+-+Fire+Circular+NJC+6-16\e6eab5ee-750a-4d6d-9b7d-d18ecb13eb24
file://C:\Users\victoria.daly\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary%20Internet%20Files\Content.Outlook\5KQ00TY9\www.local.gov.uk\documents\10180\7734367\workforce+-+fire+and+rescue+services+joint+circulars+-+Fire+Circular+NJC+6-16\e6eab5ee-750a-4d6d-9b7d-d18ecb13eb24


39          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Viewpoint 

quiltbag

Since 2010, the Equality Act has been 
in place to support the improvement of 
workplaces for employees and service 
delivery for communities, yet even legislation 
has not been able to change the culture or 
the visible diversity of the UK fire and rescue 
service (FRS). 

This will only change when the ‘culture and 
public perception’ of the service nationally is 
removed, this historical hierarchal institutional 
male orientated image that has long existed, 
must be changed. 

Leadership and visibly changing the way 
we promote equality, diversity and inclusion 
are fundamental to change. Nationally and 
throughout all services we need to have one 
simple key message to promote inclusion and 
the freedom of self-expression within all fire 
and rescue services.

This is not as simple as recruiting more 
people who are identified in legislation as 
within the protected characteristics. That is a 
good step, but needs to be combined with the 
change of the institutional mind set. The FRS 
may attempt to undertake positive action and 
initiatives to recruit a more diverse workforce, 
but if the culture of the service is not to truly 
want inclusion, we will see those who join 
either fitting in by changing themselves or 
becoming excluded and isolated within 
themselves. 

To recruit, employ and retain a socially-
reflective workforce will take time, but the 
move to change the way we recruit, for 
example apprentices, will mean many new 
employees who will have been fortunate 
to grow and be educated in a much more 
diverse and equality driven society. However, 
it is not good enough to think this will lead to 

a workforce that understands sufficiently the 
needs of the changing diverse community of 
the future especially if the new recruits are 
moulded to ‘fit in’ with the old culture. 

Achieving a truly reflective and fit-for-purpose 
workforce can be helped where there are 
national support groups, particularly where 
they create and provide guidance documents 
based on best practice that seeks to future-
proof society. 

Research, business reports and financial 
statistics continue to endorse the fact that 
people and teams perform better when they 
are supported (not managed) with engaging 
and inclusive leadership, and where people 
are empowered to truly be and express 
themselves. This does not mean employing 
individuals who are less effective or 
efficient,quite the reverse. It means providing 
a safe, open and healthy environment for 
people to self-actualise in.

It is interesting to note that when we talk 
about a commitment to diversity, even in 
our own Home Office Service Returns, we 
have lesbian and gay as one classification, 
transgender and non-binary people are 
not classified at all and in the 2016 returns, 
nearly 50 per cent of the workforce has not 
stated their sexual orientation. This could 
be because their chosen identity is not 
recognised, or they feel they cannot be open 
about who they are in the workplace. 

We consulted with our corporate members 
and the key headline issues which continue to 
be voiced from our equality professionals are:

• ‘The culture’ – sexist, racist and 
homophobic bullying and harassment will 
deter exactly the people we want to recruit. 

Page 57



40          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

• The lack of support at a senior leadership 
level for equality, diversity and inclusion 
(ED&I) as it waves in and out of ‘fashion’. 
This does not portray an inclusive 
organisation. ED&I needs to be a strategic 
priority as it should transcend everything 
we do. 

• The removal of ED&I professionals and the 
transfer of their responsibilities to human 
resources departments compounds the 
concept amongst service managers that 
ED&I is just a fad. 

• Facilities on stations in many cases are not 
conducive to personal privacy, for example 
binary toilets and communal sleeping on 
station. 

• There is a distinct lack of real management 
of issues when they arise, often due to 
competency and confidence of managers 
to do the right thing. Proper HR training and 
support signposting needs to be in place to 
ensure managers can get things right. 

• Station stagnation – in many services 
firefighters are not moved around stations 
so they do not gain exposure to a variety of 
people’s differences. 

• A national and government drive to change 
the perception of the role of a firefighter 
is needed. The media continue to portray 
the role around a male, macho, sexist, 
operationally focussed, snooker-playing 
culture. This could not be further from the 
truth, but will continue to affect recruitment 
unless the media help to change this image. 

• There are some great services and 
organisations working towards a more 
inclusive workplace. It is essential to identify 
these good practices and share them so 
we can all learn and move forward together 
and change the way we are perceived 
and in time change the diversity of our 
workforce. 

quiltbag, which is part of the wider public 
service gender and sexual self-identity 
consortium, will continue to support the UK 
fire and rescue service to improve inclusion 
and in particular for people who identify with a 
gender or sexual self-identify from across the 
ever expanding wider spectrum. 

http://www.lgbtconsortium.org.uk/directory/
quiltbag

Page 58

http://www.lgbtconsortium.org.uk/directory/quiltbag
http://www.lgbtconsortium.org.uk/directory/quiltbag


41          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Viewpoint

Kathryn Billing, Flexi Duty Officer, 
Cornwall Fire, Rescue and Community 
Safety Service
I am a flexi-duty officer in Cornwall Fire, 
Rescue and Community Safety Service; I am 
currently working within the People team, 
which is supported by our Corporate Human 
Resources team. I am also the Community 
Engagement Equality Diversity (CEED) 
Strategic Lead for sexual orientation and 
gender self-identify. 

Cornwall Fire, Rescue and Community Safety 
Service gained the excellent level of the Fire 
and Rescue Service Equality Framework. 
How is it possible a service with the least ratio 
of operational women to men is excellent in 
equality and inclusion? 

Put simply, our service does not look at 
what you are, but at who you are. If you 
are passionate, committed and respectful, 
that’s all we see. We want to understand 
how to expand the inclusion bubble of our 
organisation to include you, by understanding 
your needs, experiences, perspective and 
how you want to shape your role and service. 

A key aspect of our outlook is that our service 
doesn’t just have operational firefighters; we 
are all community health, safety and wellbeing 
advocates who help the community to live 
independently, reduce risk and improve 
community resilience. 

National barriers to inclusion include duty 
systems, conditions of service, and doing 
roles outside of national rolemaps, among 
others. In Cornwall these don’t exist; as 
a unitary council authority we are fully 
integrated into our council and green and 
grey book conditioned officers work within 
integrated teams of which fire is an integral, 
but small, part. 

Our work with the other blue light services is 
built on relationships as often our resources 
have meant we have to work together. 

We are not perfect and this has taken and 
does take lots of time, learning, talking and 
difficult and challenging conversations - and 
not everyone will have them. We do have 
elected member and senior leadership 
commitment. That is not a piece of paper 
saying ‘equality pledge’ or a list which sits 
somewhere; it is people who say and do the 
right things, challenge and try to make things 
right by doing their best and learning too. 

Inclusion is not about statistics, men, women, 
black and ethnic minority and lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and transgender (LGBT); inclusion 
is a verb which everyone can achieve. How 
can we tangibly see inclusion working when 
we have no statistics? It is easy to say quite 
crudely, ‘We have women in our service so 
we must be inclusive’, but while numbers 
are easy to measure, compare and report, 
inclusion is more than numbers. 

Inclusion will look different for every 
organisation − demographics, risk profiles, 
infrastructures are all different. What should 
be consistent is the ‘feel of an organisation’ 
do people say this is a great place to work, 
are they passionate, do they feel valued and 
value each other, are they creative?

Our service doesn’t have an equality 
professional; we have all needed to make 
inclusion part of what we do. Initially we had a 
strategy explaining CEED. We mainstreamed 
CEED and linked it to competencies, 
promotional assessments, case studies 
for management practices, community 
engagement work and linked it to objectives 
within everyone’s personal development 
reviews (PDRs). 

Page 59



42          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

We also have ‘CEED Champions’ who provide 
strategic direction and support for the 
protected characteristics. These are useful for 
targeted events and where the service needs 
to focus on an area for a particular reason. 

The ‘Equality Framework’ is a great quality 
assurance tool which does help embed 
inclusion. The LGA have supported us to 
document our commitments and how to 
ensure they are embedded in everything we 
do. We did go through a phase of saying ‘It’s 
so embedded we don’t mention it’ However, 
it is important to remember to say what you 
are doing so people can understand why and 
how. The advantage of public statements is 
that they sparks debate, hit peoples values 
and conscious and unconscious bias and 
helps an organisation challenge itself and 
move forward. 

We have become a more community-
focussed health, safety and wellbeing service, 
more integrated with the council, positive 
in our written commitments to challenge 
inappropriate behaviour. We engage with 
diverse groups, open our stations to the 
community, support our firefighters to 
change and come up with the initiatives 
to work with at risk people and help them 
understand why different does not mean weak 
and unprofessional it means exciting and 
something new. 

In Cornwall we intend to maintain a culture 
which wants to learn, welcome change 
and understand difference to help include 
people into the service and also to help the 
community.

Page 60



43          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Viewpoint

Dany Cotton, London Fire Commissioner 
and Chair of Women in the Fire Service

When I arrived on my first day as a London 
firefighter in 1988, the officer in charge told 
me that he didn’t agree with women being 
in the fire service and that three men on 
the watch had already requested a transfer 
because they didn’t want to work with a 
woman. As the only woman on my watch, I 
felt I was being judged the entire time. I didn’t 
want to make any mistakes and felt like I was 
working twice as hard as the others because I 
wanted to prove them wrong.

Thankfully attitudes towards women in the 
service have changed enormously since I 
joined. The number of women firefighters has 
been growing in London for over 30 years 
and having worked my way through the ranks, 
I became the first woman Commissioner in 
the Brigade’s 150 year history on 1 January 
this year. When the Mayor of London, Sadiq 
Khan, published details of the pay gap 
between men and women working within the 
Greater London Authority’s ‘functional bodies’ 
last year, London Fire Brigade was the only 
member with no gender pay gap among 
operational staff.

But while attitudes have changed and major 
milestones have been reached, the number 
of women becoming firefighters has not 
evolved at the same rate. Yes, the number of 
women operational staff in London has more 
than quadrupled since 2000 but this still only 
accounts for just under seven per cent of our 
operational workforce – some way short of our 
medium-term target of 18 per cent. 

We know from the six recruitment campaigns 
we’ve run in London since 2008, the 
percentage of applications from women has 
hovered at around ten per cent, so a key 
challenge is to encourage more women to 

apply. We also know that there is an overall 
lack of awareness of the firefighter role which 
can result in women simply not realising 
what a great job it is or having perceived 
barriers to joining. There is still something of a 
perception among women that they cannot be 
firefighters – it is still seen as a typically male 
job and though the term ‘fireman’ still bristles, 
unacceptably in 2017 its use persists. 

This perception is not the only deterrent to 
applying. We commissioned research to get 
a better understanding of the barriers for 
women to becoming a firefighter including 
the external influences on women’s career 
paths, what women look for in a role, as well 
as attitudes to the role. It found that pay is 
an important factor when considering a job 
particularly among women over the age of 25, 
while a viable, long-term career path was an 
important factor for those who are at an earlier 
stage of their career. Another key finding was 
that our application process was something of 
a turn-off.

So what are we doing about it? We’ve started 
doing more targeted advertising to encourage 
women into the service, for example taking 
additional steps in the most recent recruitment 
campaigns to specifically target women 
including adverts in the Facebook newsfeed 
of women aged 18-40 in London who were 
interested in fitness and sports which require 
a great deal of upper body strength. This 
appears to have been effective with analysis 
showing the highest percentage of women 
applicants over these campaign periods. We 
also go to places like women’s rugby clubs 
because this job attracts people who are 
team players and are physically fit. We also 
know that open days hosted at fire stations 
were important in solidifying the decision of 

Page 61



44          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

women firefighters to join the brigade – our 
consultation on the London Safety Plan is 
considering how we can do more to open up 
our stations so that the local community can 
find out more about what we do. I also want to 
look at what more London Fire Brigade can do 
to demystify the role, how we can promote the 
role and how we can improve the application 
process.

In recent years, we’ve really focused on 
making equality and inclusion an everyday 
part of what we do and in June 2016 we 
agreed an ambitious 10 year inclusion 
strategy called ‘Safer Together’, which 
includes our ambition to recruit and retain, but 
importantly to also develop and promote a 
diverse workforce.

Significant progress has been made since 
I become a firefighter, but there remain key 
challenges. I didn’t sign up to be a trailblazer 
for others, but part of my role as London’s 
first woman commissioner will be a ‘myth-
buster’ to show young girls thinking about 
their careers and women what a great role this 
is, and that they are just as capable of being 
firefighters as men.

Page 62



45          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Local Government 
Association’s equality and 
diversity improvement work
The Local Government Association (LGA) 
provides a range of advice and support on 
equalities and diversity to fire and rescue 
services through its sector led improvement 
offer. The offer includes the Fire and Rescue 
Service Equality Framework (FRSEF), the 
Equality Peer Challenge, the LGA webpages 
with good practice case studies; the 
Equality Community of Practice (CoP) via the 
Knowledge Hub platform, as well as other 
publications. The LGA’s Workforce team can 
also offer bespoke consultancy and equality 
audits. The LGA works closely with the 
Chief Fire Officers Organisation (CFOA) to 
ensure that its improvement offer on equality 
continues to meet the needs of the sector, and 
will continue to do so when CFOA becomes 
the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC).

Fire and Rescue Service Equality 
Framework and Peer Challenge
The Fire and Rescue Service Equality 
Framework was jointly developed by CFOA 
and the LGA in 2009.  It recognises and 
addresses equality and diversity objectives 
that are a priority for the fire and rescue 
service. It is outcome focused and was 
originally cross-mapped with the national ‘Fire 
and Rescue Service Equality and Diversity 
Strategy 2008-2018’. The five priority areas in 
the framework are:

• knowing your communities

• leadership, partnership and organisational 
commitment

• involving your communities

• responsive services and customer care

• a skilled and committed workforce.

The FRSEF is designed to be multi-functional. 
It can help services to: 

• improve their equality practices

• meet statutory duties

• support Prevention activities

• self-assess, monitor progress and set 
milestones

• provide evidence for external assessment 
via a peer challenge or other assessment

• recognise and record good practice.

Many services are using the Equality 
Framework to embed equality, to self-assess 
and prepare for external assessments. They 
value the fact that it covers all aspects of a fire 
service, not just workforce issues. Seventeen 
fire services have been peer challenged by 
the LGA since 2008. Over 40 fire and rescue 
service staff including both specialist equality 
officers and uniformed staff have taken part in 
equality peer challenges as peers. 

Future developments
The LGA is currently reviewing its 
improvement offer to the fire and rescue 
sector, including both the fire Equality 
Framework and the equality peer challenge, 
in the light of the announcement of plans 
for a fire and rescue service inspectorate. 
The recently-signed Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU) on equality, diversity, 
behaviours and organisational culture in the 
fire and rescue service commits the LGA to 
working with the new inspectorate to explore 
how the LGA and other stakeholders can work 
with the inspectorate to ensure inspection 
drives progress on diversity. The LGA then 
will look to disseminate the expectations on 

Page 63



46          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

diversity and assist our members in meeting 
those expectations before the pilot inspection 
regime commences in April 2017. 

The LGA’s support offer will develop further as 
the inspection regime takes shape. The LGA 
is working closely with CFOA/NFCC and other 
stakeholders such as the Asian Fire Service 
Association (AFSA) to refresh the Equality 
Framework and to review the equality peer 
challenge process. An updated version of 
both will be developed and piloted in 2017. 
One challenge going forward will be how to 
use the framework and the peer challenge 
to help change the culture of the fire sector 
and strengthen the support around workforce 
diversity. One way of doing this will be to 
better identify and spread good practice 
across the sector.

Significantly changing the workforce 
profile will be a long-term undertaking 
for most services because of a lack of 
wholetime recruitment. However there 
are other initiatives that can have a more 
immediate impact on the workforce 
profile such as reviewing the way staff are 
selected and developed for promotion, 
more positive action around recruitment 
and selection, addressing unconscious 
bias in selection and improving the 
training of managers involved in these 
processes.

The LGA will continue to provide support on 
equality issues to fire and rescue services to 
help them improve and have workforces that 
are representative of their communities.

Page 64



47          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

Conclusion and questions

In this document a variety of groups have 
been given the opportunity to offer advice 
on how we can develop as a diverse, 
representative service. In order to assist this 
process the following list of questions has 
been devised, reflecting their comments, 
which fire and rescue authority members may 
find helpful in leading the services they are 
responsible for. 

It is not a checklist of things everyone has 
to do, but is offered as a starting point for 
further thought. Some of these, we hope, 
will be questions members will want to 
ask their chiefs, themselves or their fellow 
members, others may seem obvious, 
unnecessary or irrelevant. It is unlikely that 
we have covered every relevant point. As the 
political leadership of their service, that is 
for members to decide. Each of us will have 
different routes to the goal and different ideas 
to add. That is why it is essential that we 
share our ideas and experiences nationally, 
learning from our successes and unafraid to 
help others learn from things we have tried 
that have not worked.

Questions for scrutiny:
Data 
• How much recruitment data do we monitor? 

• Have we identified any trends in 
applications from different societal groups, 
for example around when they fail or drop 
out of the recruitment process? Do we need 
to think about further support for those 
groups?

• What kind of data are we collecting in 
relation to diversity? 

• What are our retention rates for 
firefighters and other staff with protected 
characteristics? Do these change when you 
look across the different ranks?

• Do we conduct exit interviews with all 
employees to understand if there were  
any particular issues that have caused 
them to leave? 

• Are we evaluating the impact of policies 
designed to promote inclusion and 
diversity?

• What are we learning from our experience?

• Are we sharing that knowledge with other 
services and learning from them?

NB The Inclusive Fire Service group will 
shortly be producing guidance on data which 
will assist members in benchmarking their 
services’ practice.

Recruitment
• What positive action initiatives has our 

service undertaken? What worked/what did 
not work? 

• How will apprenticeships contribute to the 
creation of a diverse workforce?

• Can we use RDS recruitment or flexible 
working arrangements to offer family-
friendly employment?

• Are we testing the right qualities?

• Are we using legislative provisions 
supporting positive action?

• How do we target our recruitment 
campaigns at diverse groups?

Page 65



48          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

• How do we support recruits through the 
process? Should we do more to help some 
individuals pass, for example by retaking 
physical tests?

• What can we learn from business, the 
police and armed forces in devising 
appropriate recruitment strategies?

• Do we provide entry, exit and re-entry 
points to allow career flexibility?

• Should we advertise nationally or impose a 
residency requirement?

• Could values-based recruitment increase 
applications from and appointments of 
under-represented groups?

• Do we maintaining contact with 
unsuccessful candidates, eg through a 
register of unsuccessful candidates so 
that contact can be maintained to monitor 
interest in further opportunities?

• Have we reviewed our recruitment 
programme to identify barriers?

Culture
• Do we know what our staff think about our 

workplace culture? Can we identify the 
views of women, black, Asian and ethnic 
minority (BAME) groups and lesbian, 
gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) 
employees as specific groups?

• Do we have a sustainable long-term 
approach to inclusion? 

• Could we benefit from engagement 
with Stonewall’s Diversity Champions19 
Programme?

• What support and training do we offer 
to ensure inclusive leadership is a value 
understood at all levels of the service?

• Do we understand our own unconscious 
bias? How are we overcoming that bias? 
How is our service addressing this issue?

• How does our service demonstrate 
inclusive leadership; how do we as leaders 
exemplify it?

19 https://www.stonewall.org.uk/get-involved/workplace/
diversity-champions-programme 

• Who has responsibility for Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion policy in our service? Is this 
the appropriate person and what training 
have they received?

• How engaged are our current workforce on 
the diversity agenda? 

• Do they have the ability, facility and 
structures to contribute ideas on this 
agenda? 

• Does every employee know who they can 
report bullying and harassment to – and do 
they feel they will be heard?

• What training are we providing on diversity? 
Does it cover handling reports of bullying, 
specifically bullying related to protected 
characteristics?

• What staff support groups exist for female, 
BAME, LGBT staff? Is there a buddy 
scheme?

• Do staff know about the national support 
groups that they can join?

• How can we work with other services to 
promote inclusion?

• What do we do to identify and encourage 
minority group members interested in 
promotion opportunities?

• Are our practices in line with the NFCC 
People Strategy?

• Is our inclusion strategy up to date and 
based on evidence in relation to recruitment 
and culture?

• Do we understand the requirements of the 
inspection regime?

• Could we benefit from sector support?

Perception
• What image do we present to the public? 

Does it deter some groups from applying to 
join us? How can we change that?

• Are fire stations seen as part of the 
community?

• Do we encourage visitors? Do we run ‘have 
a go days’ etc.?

Page 66

https://www.stonewall.org.uk/get-involved/workplace/diversity-champions-programme
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/get-involved/workplace/diversity-champions-programme


49          An inclusive service: the twenty-first century fire and rescue service

• Does our community engagement lay the 
groundwork for diverse recruitment? Could 
it do more?

• Can we use social media to engage with 
different communities?

• How do we portray firefighters in our 
publicity?

• Is inclusion hardwired into the way we talk 
about our service?

• Do we know why some groups do not see 
us as potential employers? How can we 
increase our knowledge?

• What role can ambassadors and 
champions play in changing perceptions? 

Finally, some aspects of change can only be 
addressed nationally. Is a national campaign 
on the image of firefighting as a career 
required? Do you know how to raise these 
issues with NFCC and LGA? Do you feel you 
would be heard?

These questions provide a starting point for 
discussion, but it is also important that we 
share the good work that’s already underway 
in many areas. If you would like to share what 
you’re doing locally, discuss the issues in 
more detail or you would like to contact any  
of the contributors please contact the  
LGA directly:

Charles Loft, Senior Adviser  
charles.loft@local.gov.uk 

Lucy Ellender, Adviser 
lucy.ellender@local.gov.uk 

The LGA would like to thank all the 
external organisations and individuals 
who contributed to this document.

Page 67

mailto:Charles.loft@local.gov.uk
mailto:Lucy.ellender@local.gov.uk


Local Government Association 
Local Government House 
Smith Square 
London SW1P 3HZ

Telephone 020 7664 3000 
Fax 020 7664 3030 
Email info@local.gov.uk 
www.local.gov.uk

For a copy in Braille, larger print or audio,  
please contact us on 020 7664 3000. 
We consider requests on an individual basis. 
 
REF 10.5

© Local Government Association, February 2017

Page 68



3REPORT REFERENCE NO. HRMDC/17/3 

MEETING HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE 

DATE OF MEETING 24 MARCH 2017 

SUBJECT OF REPORT STRATEGIC WORKFORCE PLANNING 

LEAD OFFICER Assistant Chief Fire Officer – Service Improvement 

RECOMMENDATIONS (a) That the Service considers its Strategic Workforce 
Planning on a quarterly basis to facilitate planning for 
medium to long term staffing requirements and; 

(b) That the Committee is informed and contributes to the 
Strategic Workforce planning process.   

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY Workforce planning is essentially a way to ensure that we have the 
staffing capacity within the organisation to achieve our corporate 
objectives and should include an assessment of where we are now, 
a forecast of where we want to be and an analysis of what will need 
to do to get there. From these steps we can then develop our action 
plans accordingly.  
 
This paper sets out the current position for Wholetime staff and our 
forecasts for potential turnover in the next few years. We have 
already committed to Firefighter Recruitment in 2017/18 and we will 
need to further consider the staffing position for future years as the 
development of our Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 
progresses. This work may identify options which may modify our 
approach to staffing resourcing over the longer term.   
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS Staffing time associated with recruitment processes, e-recruitment 
systems, advertising costs and Firefighter training. 

EQUALITY RISK AND 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 
(ERBA) 

The Firefighter recruitment team’s activities included diversity 
considerations and positive actions were taken in terms of promoting 
the vacancies through an ‘Attraction Campaign’.  

The recruitment process uses elements based on the national 
Firefighter Selection Process which was developed with government 
funding and included impact assessments.  

Further impact assessment analysis will be undertaken locally 
through the recruitment process. 

APPENDICES A. Turnover Rates by Staff Category 

LIST OF BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

None 

 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Workforce planning is essentially a way to ensure that we have the staffing 

capacity within the organisation to achieve our corporate objectives. Workforce 
planning has been defined as “trying to predict the future demand for different 
types of staff and seeking to match this with supply”. It is about having the right 
number of people, in the right place at the right time, with the right skills and 
behaviours, doing the right activities. Workforce planning should include an 
assessment of where we are now, a forecast of where we want to be and an 
analysis of what will need to do to get there. We can then develop our action 
plans accordingly.  

 
1.2 This paper sets out the current position for Wholetime staff and our forecasts for 

potential turnover in the next few years. We have already committed to 
Firefighter Recruitment in 2017/18 and we will need to consider further the 
staffing position for future years as the development of our Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP) progresses. This work may identify options which may 
modify our approach to staffing resourcing over the longer term. When we 
undertake further recruitment in future years, we should also consider 
incorporating a high potential selection process and fast track career scheme. 

  
2. WHOLETIME STAFFING RESOURCES AND FORECASTS 
 
2.1 The Service has an Establishment level of full-time equivalents (FTE) and this is 

compared with the actual number of employees. In October 2016, the variance 
between these was -2 and this had increased to -6 in November and is currently 

 -9.5 at the end of February.   
 

 Current Establishment FTE (3rd March 2017)  565  

 Current Actual FTE      555.5 

 Variance       -9.5  

2.2 In considering the workforce, we can see from the age profile below that we have 

an ageing workforce. There are 38 Wholetime staff who are under 36 years 
whereas we have 125 staff above 50 years. We can also consider our average 
age and for reference purposes this is compared with On-call staff below: 

 Average age for Wholetime    46 

 Average age of station based Wholetime  45 

 Average age of On-call   40 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

Up to 25 26 - 30 31 - 35 36 - 40 41 - 45 46 - 50 51 - 55 56 - 60 61 - 65 Over 65

Wholetime Age Profile

Page 70



 
2.3 Prior to 2011, employers were able to fairly retire employees at the default 

retirement age of 65. This is no longer the case and employees can continue to 
work for as long as they wish and are able to. For Wholetime staff the pension 
has been of more significant influence on retirement age with the Firefighter 
Pension Scheme (1992 Scheme) providing full pension benefits after 30 years of 
service and a normal pension age of 55. With subsequent firefighter pension 
schemes we have a normal pension age of 60 and there are transitional 
arrangements in place. However, employees reaching retirement at this time will 
have protected rights under the 1992 scheme and therefore if staff take 
immediate retirement then the predicted levels of leavers are as below. Even 
where staff seek retirement and re-employment, we ordinarily have been offering 
a maximum of a 12 month fixed-term contract although this could be extended to 
2 years without incurring any redundancy payments. There is of course the 
option to offer an open-ended re-employment contract but our experience has 
been that this stifles promotional opportunities within the Service. In the figures 
below there are 13.5 Full Time Equivalent staff on such open ended contracts 
but with their age, these staff are likely to decide to retire in the next few years. 

 
Wholetime Leaver Forecast 2016/17 – 2019/20 
 

2016/17 FTC to end 0 

 
Known Leavers 2 

 
Normal Pensionable Service ie 30 years 6 

 
Total 8 

   

   

2017/18 FTC to end 
13.

5 

 
Known Leavers 3 

 
Normal Pensionable Service ie 30 years 12 

 
Total 

28.
5 

   

   2018/19 FTC to end 0 

 
Known Leavers 0 

 
Normal Pensionable Service ie 30 years 17 

 
Total 17 

   

   2019/20 FTC to end 0 

 
Known Leavers 0 

 
Normal Pensionable Service ie 30 years 31 

 
Total 31 

   

 

Retired/Re-employed staff who can 
leave at any time and likely to retire 
within 4 years 

13.
5 

 
Total potential leavers over 4 years 98 

 
 

Page 71



 
Wholetime Recruit Forecast 2016/17 – 2019/20  
 

2017/18 New Recruits 16 

 
Total new Recruits 16 

    
2016/17 – 2019/20 
 
Net Predicted Reduction in Wholetime Staffing   -82 Staff 

 
3. WHOLETIME FIREFIGHTER RECRUITMENT 
 
3.1 The Wholetime Firefighter Recruitment process is progressing to plan following 

the decision to recruit 16 new Firefighters. The attraction campaign commenced 
in December 2016 and the campaign was designed to demonstrate the wide 
ranging role of a firefighter and to reinforce that we are seeking a workforce that 
will reflect the communities that we serve. There was a targeted social media 
campaign, posters and information to sports centres and clubs in Devon and 
Somerset, media activity and taster days.  

 
3.2 Over 2,700 candidates applied through the registration process and have 

completed a Behavioural Styles Questionnaire and a Situational Judgement Test. 
Ability tests have now also been completed and as the date of publication of this 
report, the fitness tests for the shuttle run and swim test are being undertaken. 
Practical tests will be completed in April and there will be presentations and 
interviews in May. The medicals will be in June with employment commencing 
from the 9th August 2017. 

 
4. STAFF TURNOVER ACROSS ALL STAFF CATEGORIES  
 
4.1 The characteristic pattern of employee turnover is high for new starters, then 

decreasing. This pattern will vary in any single organisation and is known as the 
'survival curve'. The levels of turnover within the Service are shown in Appendix 
A. It should be noted that the measure of staffing levels is normally in full-time 
equivalents but in considering the turnover levels, the chart shows the total 
number of staff of staff who have left without distinguishing whether they are full 
or part-time. We therefore are showing a total current workforce of 2008 
employees whereas our actual number of Full-time equivalents is 1804. 

 
4.2 These figures include 2013/14 when the Service initiated steps to reduce the 

workforce through voluntary redundancies as a result of the Corporate Plan. In 
the current financial year we are experiencing an increasing turnover amongst 
support staff particularly those at middle management level. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Strategic Workforce Planning remains a key area to be considered by EB and 

SLT as well as Authority members. It is important that our plans are set out and 
reviewed regularly and that we inform staff of our intentions as part of our regular 
engagement with staff.  

 
5.2 It is recommended that the report be noted. 
 
 GLENN ASKEW 
 Assistant Chief Fire Officer – Service Improvement

Page 72



APPENDIX A TO REPORT HRMDC/17/3 – TURNOVER RATES BY STAFF CATEGORY  
 

  2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17   

  
Employed 
on 1/4/13 

Leavers 
during 
year 

% 
Employed 
on 1/4/14 

Leavers 
during 
year 

% 
Employed 
on 1/4/15 

Leavers 
during 
year 

% 
Employed 
on 1/4/16 

Leavers 
during 
year 

% 
Employed 
on 9/3/17 

Support 306 47 15.4 303 28 9.24 271 30 11.07 259 35 13.51 257 

Control 47 4 8.51 47 3 6.38 46 5 10.87 41 2 4.88 38 

Retained 1296 108 8.33 1212 165 13.61 1204 131 10.88 1148 122 10.63 1144 

Wholetime 719 74 10.3 712 26 3.65 624 41 6.57 588 42 7.14 569 

Total 2368 233 9.84 2274 222 9.76 2145 207 9.65 2036 201 9.87 2008 
 
 
 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Support

Control

Retained

Wholetime

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT REFERENCE 
NO. 

HRMDC/17/4 

MEETING HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE  

DATE OF MEETING 24 MARCH 2017 

SUBJECT OF REPORT RETIREMENT & RE-EMPLOYMENT  

LEAD OFFICER Assistant Chief Fire Officer – Service Improvement 

RECOMMENDATIONS That the requests for retirement & re-employment as identified in 
paragraph 2.5 of this report be approved. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY The full Authority has approved a Pay Policy Statement in accordance 
with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 

The Pay Policy Statement requires, amongst other things, for all 
requests for re-employment following retirement for employees up to 
Executive Board posts, to be approved by the Human Resources 
Management & Development Committee (the Committee). 

This report provides more information on the Authority’s position in 
relation to retirement and re-employment and sets out specific requests 
for approval.   

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS 

The Service has now achieved the planned reduction in uniformed 
Wholetime staff as a result of the Corporate Plan decisions in 2013/14. 
The Service is currently below the existing establishment level and 
retirement and re-employment provides us with certainty for the leave 
date for these employees whilst at the same time providing a suitable 
rate of staff turnover. 

EQUALITY RISK & 
BENEFITS ASSESSMENT 

The Retirement & Re-Employment Policy has had an equalities 
assessment.  

APPENDICES Nil. 

LIST OF BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

Nil. 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The 2017/18 Pay Policy Statement includes the following stated position on the 

retirement and re-employment of employees: 
 

“8.  RE-EMPLOYMENT OF EMPLOYEES  
 
8.3  The Authority will, in principle, allow the re-employment of employees who have 

retired, subject to a break in service of at least one month, because it is 
recognised that this often represents an effective way of retaining specialist 
knowledge and skills without any increase in cost to the Authority (and noting that 
costs to the Pension Scheme are no more than would be the case for normal 
retirement). The re-employment of any employee who has retired will, however, be 
subject to: 

 

 the approval of the Human Resources Management and Development 
Committee for all employees up to Executive Board posts; or   

 the approval of the full Authority for any Executive Board post-holder. 
 
8.4  Where retired uniformed staff are re-employed, then the Fire-Fighters’ Pension 

shall be abated such that the income from the gross annual rate of pay whilst re-
employed together with the gross annual pension (after commutation) will not 
exceed the gross annual rate of pay immediately prior to retirement. For staff 
within the Local Government Pension Scheme, where an individual is re-employed 
on the same terms and conditions [salary] as previously, the same abatement 
rules as apply to those within the Fire Fighters Pension Scheme will be applied.  
However, the Authority’s policy on Pension Discretions refers to flexible retirement 
and states that this “may be subject to abatement during such time as the 
individual remains employed by the Service”. This allows the Authority to use 
flexible retirement opportunities where key employees may wish to continue 
working as they get older but step down in grade or reduce their working hours. 
This can be beneficial to the Authority in retaining key skills, knowledge and 
experience whilst also reducing costs. The authorisation of any such flexible 
retirement arrangements will be subject to the approval mechanism detailed 
above. 

 
8.5  The appointment, or re-employment, of any members of the Executive Board (the 

Chief Fire Officer, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Director of Corporate Services and 
Director of People and Commercial Services) will always be subject to approval of 
the full Authority and any re-employment following redundancy or retirement will 
be subject to consideration of a robust business case and fully scrutinised against 
the above criteria.” 

 
1.2 This paper includes details of applications for retirement/re-employment in accordance 

with the approved policy. 
 
2. RETIREMENT AND RE-EMPLOYMENT 
 
2.1 The Service policy on retirement & re-employment is linked to workforce planning 

arrangements. Approval by the Authority of the 2013/14 – 2014/15 Corporate Plan at its 
meeting on 10 July 2013 (Minute DSFRA/20 refers) required a reduction of 149 
wholetime posts. The Service has progressed well with reducing the staffing levels 
against this establishment target and this has now been achieved.

Page 76



 

 

 2.2 The Service has prepared forecasts of potential wholetime turnover in the next few years 
and has from January commenced a Wholetime recruitment campaign for 16 new 
recruits. There will also be further work undertaken into the Integrated Risk Management 
Plan (IRMP). This work may identify longer term options which may modify our approach 
to staff resourcing in the future but at present we have a variance -9.5 between 
establishment and actual staffing levels. Retirement and re-employment provides us with 
certainty for the leave date for these employees whilst at the same time providing a 
suitable rate of staff turnover. 

 
2.3 The Firefighter Pension Scheme provides for employees to receive their maximum 

pension benefits after 30 years’ service. However, as there is no longer a fixed age for 
retirement it is difficult to predict precisely when individuals are likely to leave the 
Service. The use of retirement and re-employment opportunities encourages individuals 
to commit to an end retirement date, giving the Service more control over actual 
retirement and natural turnover. Through this process, employees have a one month 
break in service before returning on a fixed-term contract either on a full-time basis or as 
a job share. In either case, the maximum contract term that has previously been set is 12 
months because of the need to reduce wholetime Firefighter numbers. However, now 
that the required reduction in numbers has been achieved, consideration could be given 
in the future to longer periods for fixed-term contracts (for operational roles) or, in 
exceptional cases, permanent contracts where uniformed staff transfer to Green Book 
jobs. Where employees return on a job share basis, we see an immediate reduction in 
the workforce staffing levels. 

 
2.4 For support staff, the Service has an establishment of 246 full-time equivalents with 234 

in post which is a variance of -12. As part of the Service approach to Efficiency and 
Effectiveness we will deliver services in a way that provides best value for tax payers. 
We are continuing to improve the way we work which is reducing down the numbers of 
support staff from the 2011/12 level of 268.  

 
2.5 The Service has received an expression of interest from the following uniformed and 

support staff employees. The GM position would be back-filled providing a promotional 
opportunity and the re-employment to a station will add value in terms of the expertise of 
the post-holder. It is recommended that this is on a 12 month contract. For the support 
staff post it will allow enable the Service to reduce the number of G6 Area Admin 
Manager posts which is consistent with other parts of the Service and provides a 
transition towards future admin structures. This re-employment can be either on a fixed-
term or continuous basis and also with the option for abatement as defined in 8.4 of the 
Pay Policy Statement (1.1 in this report) and this decision will need to be made by the 
HRMD committee. 

 

Role Position Station/Dept 
Interested 
in Job 
Share 

Notes 

Group 
Manager 

Organisational 
Safety & Assurance 
Manager 

Organisational Assurance Yes 
Re-employment will be 
Station based 

G6 
Support 
Staff 

Area Admin 
Manager 

Yeovil No 
Re-employment will be part-
time at a lower grade 

Page 77



 

 

2.6 There are no additional financial costs for the organisation since these employees have 
reached the point at which they can retire and are therefore entitled to receive their 
pension lump sum on retirement. The pension payments would normally be abated if re-
employed.  In addition to giving certainty as to a leaving date, the retirement and re-
employments represent a saving to both the Service and employee as pension 
contributions are either: 

 removed as the employee opts out of future pension contributions, or; 

 they are reduced since staff from Firefighter to Watch Manager, who decide to join a 
pension scheme, will be in the 2015 Firefighters’ Pension Scheme for which the 
employer contributions are lower than the previous 1992 Firefighters’ Pension 
Scheme.  

2.7 For positions at Station Manager or above, the employee would be eligible to join the 
Local Government Pension Scheme which again has lower employer contribution levels. 
Where uniformed staff move from uniformed positions to support staff positions, they will 
again be eligible to join the Local Government Pension Scheme.  

  
 GLENN ASKEW 
 Assistant Chief Fire Officer – Service Improvement 
 

Page 78



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REPORT REFERENCE 
NO. 

HRMDC/17/5 

MEETING HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE 

DATE OF MEETING 24 MARCH 2017 

SUBJECT OF REPORT ON CALL AVAILABILITY PILOTS 

LEAD OFFICER Assistant Chief Fire Officer - Service Improvement 

RECOMMENDATIONS That the report be noted. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service is the largest employer of On 
Call staff in England and therefore places a high reliance on these 
employees in fulfilling its statutory duty. In an effort to improve On Call 
availability of personnel and subsequently appliances a number of pilots 
have been trialled under the governance of a project. The evaluation 
these pilots along with other evidence will inform a business case to be 
developed in line with the Service Integrated Risk Management Plan 
requirements to support Service Improvement. 

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

EQUALITY RISKS AND 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 
(ERBA) 

N/A 

APPENDICES None 

LIST OF BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

None 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Devon & Somerset Fire & rescue Service (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Service’) is the 

largest employer of On Call staff in England with an establishment of over 1100 
personnel.  Over the years, a number of different contracts of employment have been 
offered to On Call staff ranging from pay as you go style contracts with an annual 
retainer to salary based contracts that are based on the level of activity for individual 
stations.  In recent years there has been a focus on the availability of On Call appliances 
and how On Call staff are best rewarded for committing their time to supporting the 
Service. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 In 2015, a project was initiated to review the current On Call arrangements with a view to 

enhancing staff and ultimately appliance availability.  The project identified that there was 
a number of issues affecting availability and that further work was required to understand 
what elements could be addressed by the Service.  A number of pilot schemes were 
initiated to look at various issues relating to payment for availability, improving 
emergency response times and supporting a better work life balance for On Call staff. 

 
3. CURRENT PILOT STATUS 
 
  The status of the On Call pilot schemes is as follows: 
 
3.1 Pilot 1 – Payment for Availability 
 
 Locations: Dartmouth, Cullompton, Seaton, Exmouth, Budleigh Salterton, 

Dawlish, Princetown, Salcombe and Chagford 
 

Conditions of the Pilot include: 

 Staff have to provide a maximum of 5 on duty;  

 Paid hourly rate for availability; 

 Higher pay during daytime hours; 

 Paid by the minute for incidents; 

 Pay for all on call staff ceases if the pump goes off the run; 

 Staff paid for every hour that they provide on call availability. 

 
Proposed benefits of this scheme are: 

 The cost is easy to predict based on maximum numbers on duty; 

 Staff like the scheme and perceive it as fair; 

 All hours of cover are recorded and rewarded; 

 Higher rates of pay during daytime (this is an incentive to cover the times where 
the Service typically has  a shortfall in available personnel); 

 All station staff get a more even chance of riding the pump ( if you are on duty, 
you ride); 

 Salary and pay can be used as a recruitment aid; 

 Availability is rewarded, not activity, liked at quiet stations. 

Page 80



 
Status: as below 

 Dartmouth, Cullompton, Seaton, Exmouth and Budleigh Salterton pilots, crews 
paid for availability given at a rate of £2 & £3 with minimum crew of 5 available at 
all times, still on going. 

 Princetown are trialling the similar model (£2 & £3) with a crewing model down to 
3 utilising RIU for a 6 month period from 1st December 2006. 

 Salcombe trial as Princetown but with standard crewing. 

 Dawlish Pilot has ended. 

 Proposals to trial this pilot at Totnes, Ilfracombe, Lynton , Braunton & Combe 
Martin put on hold. 

 
3.2 Pilot 2 – Demand led crewing 
 

Location: Newton Abbott 
  
The trial involved the provision of one full crew at Newton Abbott fire station between the 
hours of 1300 and 1800hrs. This was to increase turn out times at Newton Abbott who 
were failing ERS due to traffic congestion en route to station. This in turn allowed the 
Newton Abbott appliance to cover outlying areas towards Bovey Tracey and 
Moretonhampstead who were also suffering difficulties with availability during these 
periods. 
 
Status:  Completed, awaiting evaluation of trial. 
 

3.3 Pilot 3 – Use of Wholetime crew  
 

Locations: Plympton, Plymstock and Crownhill 
 
This is the bolstering of the newly formed On Call sections with wholetime staff on a daily 
basis. The RDS staff on the station work to the traditional PAYG system. 
 
Status:  On going 

 
3.4 Pilot 4 – PFCSO’s ( Police and Fire Community Safety Officers) 

 
Locations: throughout North Devon 
 
This is a concept that provides the up skilling of PCSOs to undertake a dual role of 
PCSO and On Call firefighters. When they are on duty in a station area (usually 
daytime), they will carry a DSFRS pager and respond when necessary. Transport is 
provided to enable best use of both roles. There is also the concept of further upskilling 
to include fire safety audits as part of their work. 
 
Status:  Ongoing. Under trial until September 2017. 

 
3.5 Pilot 5 - Community Firefighters 

 
Locations: Service wide 
 
The provision of Community Firefighters working a 21 paid hours contract, with 
additional on call hours is now available as a central resource to support low availability. 

Page 81



 
Status:  Ongoing 

 
4. ONGOING RESEARCH 

 
RDS survey 
 

4.1  A paper survey form has been sent to all RDS staff in order that the Service is able to 
understand the depth of support or otherwise for a range of payment options. It also sets 
out to identify the current level of satisfaction with the service by our RDS employees 
and whether our existing arrangements are affecting recruitment, retention and ultimately 
Service Delivery.  

 
4.2  It is intended that the outcomes of this report will form part of the evidence required (or 

not), to prove that a strategic change of direction is required by the Service, and a 
strategic outline case will be produced to support this. 

 
Pay and Conditions issues 
 

4.3  There are concerns within Pay and Conditions department that the current RDS pilot 
schemes cannot be processed through Gartan as they are out of scope for our existing 
arrangements. They therefore have to be processed manually which is taking two 
persons, two days per month to complete. The department have little capacity to deal 
with any more trial stations unless some changes to Gartan can be made or the payment 
model is simplified.  

 
Cost of the pilot schemes 
 

4.4  All of the current payment for availability trials are aligned to the £2-£3 models. Although 
not yet thorough, the evidence to date suggests that this would require a significant 
budget increase if this was to be rolled out Service wide. 

 
4.5  Modelling has been done to indicate costs if we explore models with lower hourly rates. 

This of course makes the schemes progressively cheaper for the organisation; but by 
implication makes the schemes less attractive for our staff. 

 
4.6  Work is still on going to identify the “true” cost of running our stations which will include:  

 Wholetime standby; 

 Group Support Team standby; 

 Community firefighter standby;  

 Other support. 

4.7 This work is necessary to enable us the benchmark our current expenditure against any 
perceived increase that the pilot schemes may require. 
 

4.8  A number of these costed options will form part of the strategic outline case.   
 
5. NEXT STEPS 
 
5.1  The project will progress to: 

• Review the outcomes of the survey and prepare a report; 

• Complete a range of cost models; 

Page 82



• Find the best resolution for Pay and Conditions issues; 

• Find the best solution for using Gartan for pilot schemes; 

• Draft a strategic outline case for consideration 

 
6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 The On Call Availability project has demonstrated that there is a wide variance in the 

way staff are contracted to the on call duty system.  Initial feedback from the user groups 
and historical evidence suggested that a review of the way in which On Call staff are 
rewarded for their commitment would be welcome.  The evaluation of the pilot schemes 
and other evidence gathering will inform the basis of a business case to be progressed in 
line with the Integrated Risk Management Plan requirements currently being developed. 

 
7. RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1 That the report be noted. 
 
 GLENN ASKEW 
 Assistant Chief Fire Officer - Service Improvement 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Absence Management and Health of the Organisation
	5 Workforce Culture, Diversity and Inclusion
	LGA An Inclusive Fire Service
	_GoBack


	6 Strategic Workforce Planning
	7 Retirement & Re-employment
	8 On Call Availability Pilots



